LAW REFORM COMMISSION OF BRITISH COLUMBIA

REPORT ON INTERPRETATION OF WILLS

LRC 58

November 1982

The Law Reform Commission of British Columbia was established by the Law Reform Commission Act in 1969 and began functioning in 1970.

The Commissioners are:

The Honourable Mr. Justice John S. Aikins, *Chairman* Kenneth C. Mackenzie Bryan Williams, Q.C. Anthony F. Sheppard Arthur L. Close

Thomas G. Anderson is Counsel to the Commission.

Sharon St. Michael is Secretary to the Commission.

The Commission offices are located on the 5th Floor, 700 West Georgia Street, (P.O. Box 10135, Pacific Centre) Vancouver, B.C. V7Y 1C6.

Canadian Cataloguing in Publication Data

Law Reform Commission of British Columbia Report on interpretation of wills.

Bibliography: p.

"LRC 58" ISBN 0-7718-8345-5

- Wills British Columbia.
 Title.

KEB245.A72L37 346.71105'4

C83-092051-X

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	INTRODUCTION			
	A.	Background to the Project	1	
	B.	Interpretation of Wills	2	
	C.	The Working Paper	6	
II.	INTERPRETATION: THE OBJECTIVE MEANING VERSUS THE			
	MEANING THE TESTATOR ASCRIBED TO THE WORDS USED			
	IN HIS WILL			
	A.	Introduction	7	
	В.	Attitude of the Courts	7	
		1. Generally	7	
		2. Strict Construction	8	
		3. The Meaning the Testator Ascribed to the Words		
		Used in his Will	8	
	C.	Admissibility of Evidence	10	
		1. Patent Ambiguity	11	
		2. Latent Ambiguity	13	
	D.	Is An Objective Approach Appropriate for the Interpretation of Wills?	15	
	E.	The Arguments in Favour of Objective Interpretation	16	
		1. The Formalities of Execution	16	
		2. Reliable Guides to Intention	17	
		3. Consistency of Interpretation	18	
		4. Certainty	20	
	F.	Conclusion 20		
	G.	Reform	20	
		1. Admissibility of Evidence	23	
		2. Whether Litigation Will Increase	24	
		3. Limits of Admissibility	26	
	Н.	Comment and Recommendation	28	
	I.	Summary		
III.	THE RULES OF CONSTRUCTION			
	A.	Introduction	29	
	B.	General Rules of Construction	29	
	C.	Specific Rules of Construction	30	
	D.	The Effect of Rules of Construction	33	
	E.	Reform	35	
	F.	Recommendation	38	
	G.	Statutory Rules of Construction	40 43	
IV.	RECTIFICATION			
	A.	Conflict Between Discoverable Intent and the Words Used in a Will	43	
	В.	Powers of the Court to Rectify a Will	43	

	C.	Why Doesn't the Court of Construction Possess a Power to Rectify?	44
	D.	Correcting Errors and Omissions in a Will by Implication	46
		1. Generally	46
		2. Why the Power is Limited	46
		3. The Principle in Practice	47
		4. When Words May be Implied	48
		5. Implying Words in the Light of Extrinsic Evidence	49
	E.	Reform	51
		1. Traditional Doctrine of Rectification	51
		2. Correcting a Will by Implication	53
	F.	Comment	54
V.	CONCLUSION		
	A.	General	57
	B.	Summary of Recommendations	58
	C.	Acknowledgements	59
	APP	ENDICES	60
	Appe	endix A Sections of the <i>Wills Act</i> , R.S.B.C. c. 434,	
	App	endix B Proposals 5 and 6 from Working Paper No. 36,	
	on Ir	nterpretation of Wills	65
TO T	HE H	IOÑOURABLE ALLAN WILLIAMS, Q.C.,	
	ATT	ORNEY GENERAL OF THE PROVINCE OF BRITISH COLUMBIA:	

The Law Reform Commission of British Columbia has the honour to present the following:

REPORT ON INTERPRETATION OF WILLS

In 1978, the Commission added the law of succession to its programme, and since then we have reported on The Making and Revocation of Wills (LRC 52) and Presumptions of Survivorship (LRC 56). A Working Paper has been published on Statutory Succession Rights. In this Report, we examine problems that arise when interpreting the provisions of a will.

Once a will has been admitted to probate, doubts may arise concerning the meaning of words used by the testator. Over several hundred years the law has developed a bewildering array of rules concerning the construction of words used in a will. Many of these rules are both archaic and obscure. Under the current law,

courts are sometimes unable to enter into the full inquiry necessary to determine the testator's intention, or upon

determining that intention, to give effect to it.

In this Report, we make recommendations which will enable courts more readily to ascertain and give effect to the testator's intentions.

CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION

A. Background to the Project

A project on the law of succession in British Columbia was added to the Commission's programme in 1978. In an earlier Report entitled "The Making and Revocation of Wills" we examined the law governing formalities which must be observed to make a valid will. Some of our recommendations were specifically directed towards ensuring that documents intended by a deceased person to have testamentary effect, and which were free from any suspicion of fraud, forgery or undue influence, would be admitted to probate.

A Court of Probate rules upon the validity of the will. It considers the document or documents submitted for probate and determines whether they represent the true last will and testament of the deceased. If the testator observed the formal requirements of making a will, then a grant of probate will generally issue

without a formal court hearing. This is known as proof in common form. If the validity of the will is challenged, then a trial will ensue. This is known as proof in solemn form. A grant of probate signifies that the will of the deceased has been proved in court and is valid, and that the personal representatives of the deceased named in the grant, who, depending on the circumstances, may be called administrators, executors or trustees, are entitled to administer the estate of the deceased.

A number of civil and ecclesiastical courts originally possessed jurisdiction to grant probate of wills. In 1857, an Act of the Imperial Parliament removed probate jurisdiction from "all ecclesiastical, royal peculiar, peculiar, manorial and other courts and persons in England" and vested it exclusively in the newly

created Court of Probate.

The distribution and administration of the estate of the deceased is governed by his will and by statute. In many cases the meaning and effect of the will is clear and the personal representative will have no problem ascertaining and carrying out his duties. The debts and liabilities of the estate are paid, the estate is transferred to the beneficiaries named in the will, and the accounts of the personal representative are prepared for the approval of either the beneficiaries of the will or the court. When approval is obtained, administration of the estate is completed.

After probate has been granted, there may be delays in the administration of the estate. A common source of delay is the necessity to determine the meaning and effect of the words used in the will. In British Columbia, the Supreme Court has jurisdiction both to grant probate of a will and to interpret its terms. Notwithstanding that the same court possesses these two jurisdictions, for historical reasons they are exercised in separate proceedings. When ruling upon the validity of a will, the Supreme Court sits as a Court of Probate. When interpreting a will the Supreme Court sits as a Court of Construction. The powers the court may exercise depend upon which jurisdiction it assumes. The Supreme Court of British Columbia may not, when sitting as a Court of Construction, exercise certain powers which it otherwise could as a Court of Probate. The significance of this divided jurisdiction is more fully discussed in Chapter IV.

B. Interpretation of Wills

Although the *Estate Administration Act* provides for the distribution of the estate of a person who dies intestate, many people prefer to make specific provisions for the disposition of their property upon their death. In general, a disposition taking effect on death may be made only by will. Wills may be professionally drafted by lawyers or notaries, but testators often prefer to draw their own wills, either armed with a preprinted wills form and a layman's guide to filling in the blanks, or unencumbered by any such aids. Both professionally drafted and homemade wills may contain mistakes or ambiguous directions which make it difficult to determine what the testator intended the words in the will to mean.

There are many sources of ambiguity. Draftsmen misunderstand their clients' instructions. Clerical errors occur. Testators, drawing their own wills, fail to appreciate the full significance of the words

they have used, inadvertently leave blanks or refer to a beneficiary by the wrong name. Even innocuous descriptions such as "my wife", "my sisters" or "my money" can embroil an estate in protracted litigation to determine

what the testator meant, or at least what he must be taken to have meant, by the words he used. For example, in *Re Smith*, a recent Ontario decision, the testatrix bequeathed "all moneys deposited to my credit" in Swiss banks. In addition to money, the banks held silver bullion for the testatrix. The operative concept may have

been "money" or it may have been personal property of value "deposited" at those banks. The court held that the ordinary meaning of "money" did not include silver bullion, and the meaning of the word was not altered by the other terms of the will.

Sometimes ambiguity may be attributable to the testator's inability to express himself clearly. An example of this is the will considered in *Re Le Blanc Estate*. The will, written on a single sheet of paper, and in its entirety, read as follows:

Los Angeles, Cafb, U.S.A. 14 June 1953.

Mother in case of quick desesed, my will his forreward to children. \$6000.00 Olive Braden Six towsend Dollars \$2500.00 Alice Pigott tow tousand hundres and husdren Dollars \$2500.00 Felix LeBlanc tow towsend and five husdren Dollars, \$4000.00 Ernest LeBlanc four Towsend Dollars \$2000.00 \$1000.00 Desised expenses and taxes

\$1800.00 extemartion of properter ellath in towsends Dollars

Mother Mrs. Hosanna LeBlanc

Once the reader is able to grasp the full significance of phrases such as "tow tousand hundres and husdren Dollars" and "extemartion of properter ellath in towsends Dollars," it is apparent that the testatrix, although functionally illiterate, has drawn her will with great care. The beneficiaries are clearly identified. The legacies are described in numerals and in writing. The total worth of the estate is estimated and an allowance is made for debts and liabilities. The court in this case was able to give effect to the intention of the testatrix, despite the many errors contained in her will.

It is well settled that the testator's intention governs the disposition of his estate. The testator's intention is gathered from his will. When the Court of Construction is called upon to interpret a will, it is said:

... the most unbounded indulgence has been shown to the ignorance, unskillfulness, and negligence of testators: no degree of technical informality, or of grammatical or orthographical error, nor the most perplexing confusion in the collocation of words or sentences, will deter the judicial expositor from diligently entering upon the task of eliciting from the contents of the instrument the intention of its author, the faintest traces of which will be sought from every part of the will, and the whole carefully weighed together ...

Despite these lofty sentiments, under the current law, courts are sometimes unable to enter into the full inquiry necessary to determine the testator's intention, or upon determining that intention, to give effect to it. Lord Denning, M.R. has remarked:

I have myself known a judge to say: 'I believe this to be contrary to the true intention of the testator but nevertheless it is the result of the words he has used.'

One need not search very far to find other judges recognizing that their interpretation defeated the testators' intentions.

Courts are inconsistent in the approach they take to interpretation, sometimes preferring to adopt the literal meaning of words, and on other occasions liberally interpreting ambiguously phrased dispositions. A good example of the difficulties which face a Court of Construction when trying to give effect to the testator's intent is to be found in the case of *Sturn* v. *Lettner Estate*. The testator, in a professionally drawn will, bequeathed to the plaintiff a legacy of \$10,000 from the anticipated sale of corporate shares. The will further provided that:

(i) In the event that my Trustee shall sell the shares of capital stock of Pearce Lettner Limited, owned by me, I will and direct that the sum of Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000.00) shall be paid out of the proceeds of such sale to my friend Pat Sturn, to and for her own use absolutely; the said payment is intended by me to compensate my said friend for the assistance, including monetary assistance, which she rendered to me in the acquisition and development of the business conducted by the said corporation.

The trustee sold the assets of the company instead of its shares, and both at trial and upon appeal it was held that the plaintiff was not entitled to the legacy because the stipulated event did not occur. Upon appeal to the Supreme Court of Canada it was held that the plaintiff was entitled to the legacy. It was said:

I am of the opinion that there is no need here to consider whether a demonstrative legacy was provided in cl. 4(I), although in the view of counsel for the executor and trustee that could be a basis for finding in favour of the appellant. He put the matter in the following way: if cl. 4(i) referred to the time of payment of the legacy, that being upon disposition of the business, resort could be had to the general assets of the residue in the absence of any fund from the sale of shares. As I have said, it is unnecessary to consider this route. A fair reading of cl. 4(i) persuades me that the testator clearly had in mind paying the appellant the specified legacy out of the sale of the business which she had helped him to acquire and develop, however that disposition was made. He wished Jeffery Wyatt to continue to manage the business pending the sale of its assets as provided for in cl. 5(c). However, and here again I agree with Dubin, J.A., the provision for sale of assets in cl. 5(c) did not so gloss the terms of cl. 4(i) as to make the legacy payable only on a sale of the shares. The overriding intention of the testator, expressed in cl. 4(i), is against so narrow a construction.

The *Lettner Estate* case indicates the difficulties the courts have in giving effect to the discoverable intent of the testator. Even when the intent is clear upon the face of the will, the court may not be able to give effect to it.

In *Re Allan*, a Prince Edward Island decision in which the problems of interpretation involved were similar to those raised in *Re Lettner*, the court had no problem coming to a commonsense interpretation. There the testatrix made a gift to her four children in trust until they reached the age of 28. If any child died before receiving his or her share, the gift was to be divided among the survivors. All of the children reached the age of 28, but they agreed that the property should not be sold. One child died at the age of 33. The court was asked whether that child's estate was entitled to a share of the gift.

That child had not "received" her share before her death, in a literal sense. However, the court held that the gift vested when she became 28. It was insignificant, therefore, whether she actually received it.

A comparison of the *Lettner Estate* case with *Re Allan* indicates that even though the courts appear to be using the same approach to interpreting wills, the results that ensue may be inconsistent. Over the centuries, rules have been developed to guide the courts when interpreting wills and to limit the issues and the scope of the inquiry before the courts. Some of these rules determine when the courts may hear evidence and what kinds of evidence it may hear. Other rules, known as the rules of construction, provide that certain words or phrases bear *prima facie* meanings. These rules are not always straightforward or consistent, and may, unless applied with caution, impede the court's efforts to give effect to the discoverable intent of the testator.

Our present Wills Act is based upon the English Wills Act, 1837, which was enacted as reform legislation designed to limit litigation arising with respect to real property and the "doubts and difficulties which arise upon Titles" passing under wills. This legislation was based upon the Fourth Report of the

Real Property Commissioners, published in 1833. The Commissioners recognized that uncertainties respecting title:

... must be attributed, in a great degree, to the informal manner in which Wills are frequently expressed, the Law not requiring them to be framed in the technical forms which are essential to limitations in Deeds.

The Commissioners declined to consider the problem of construction of wills, believing it to be more properly the subject of a study concerning the construction of legal instruments generally. In our opinion, for reasons canvassed in the next chapter, the problems encountered in the construction and interpretation of wills require

separate consideration. In the balance of this Report we will consider the powers of the court to discover and to give effect to the testator's intent.

C. The Working Paper

The Commission circulated a Working Paper on Interpretation of Wills in November, 1981. That Working Paper generated a great deal of useful comment, which has received the serious consideration of the Commission in the preparation of this Report. Comment on particular aspects of the tentative proposals made in the Working Paper will be discussed in the following chapters of this Report.

In addition to written comments, many people interested or expert in aspects of the law under study, voluntarily gave of their time to discuss the proposals made in the Working Paper. Meetings were held in Victoria and Vancouver, at which farranging discussions and debate took place.

Law reform is a laborious and timeconsuming undertaking. The Commission is very grateful to those people who devoted their time and talents to consider our work. It is only through that process that effective and practical law reform can be promoted, particularly when an area of the law under examination, such as interpretation of wills, is highly technical and, in many respects, obscure.

In the Working Paper we also discussed problems posed by class gifts and the class closing rules. Our correspondents were divided on whether it was desirable to amend those rules, although there was marked agreement that expanded trustee powers, to make payments from trust monies to beneficiaries for their maintenance, advancement or otherwise for their benefit, were desirable. The Commission is considering whether a project on trustee powers of advancement should be undertaken. In any event, the class closing rules are not directly linked to problems that arise with respect to interpreting and rectifying wills, and for these reasons, we have not included that discussion in this Report.

CHAPTER II INTERPRETATION: THE OBJECTIVE MEANING VERSUS THE MEANING THE TESTATOR ASCRIBED TO THE WORDS USED IN HIS WILL

A. Introduction

Courts have formulated principles of interpretation which apply with equal force to the construction of all legal instruments, whether the document being considered is a will, contract, deed or statute. If there is one principle that may be considered fundamental, it is that the court is to determine the meaning of a legal instrument from the language used by its makers, without regard to what they intended the language to mean.

That principle can be applied in one of two ways. Those courts which prefer the literal meaning of words used over the meaning the testator intended them to bear seek an objective interpretation of the

will. Courts that interpret subjectively attempt to discover the meaning the testator ascribed to the words he used. For the most part, courts tend to interpret legal instruments objectively, although in recent years a number of cases suggest that a more liberal approach to the interpretation of legal instruments may be emerging.

When interpreting a will, the court attempts to discover the "ordinary meaning" of the words used. A word may have many meanings. Its primary or dictionary meaning may mean one thing, secondary meanings quite another. The meaning of a word may be shaded or varied depending on its context, both in terms of the

immediate sentence it appears in and in terms of the whole of the will. Since the use of language is an art, and many testators are incapable of using language with precision, none of these meanings may correspond to the meaning the testator intended his words to have.

B. Attitude of the Courts

1. Generally

Whether the courts are to interpret wills literally, or to discover what meaning the testator ascribed to the words used in his will, is a question on which judges now differ. In older decisions, judges were firm in giving effect to an objective interpretation of the words used. The general rule was one of strict construction. It has been said:

Many Courts of construction ... [say] that their duty is not to ascertain the testator's actual mental intentions; that they are only concerned with the meaning of the words used in a will; that the expressed intention is to be considered the testator's actual intention. Unfortunately, the approach that has found favour with most Canadian Courts of construction appears to be the one expressed by Baron Rolfe, namely, that the function of a Court of construction is merely to ascertain "quod voluit by interpreting quod dixit." It is submitted that such a literal approach to the construction of wills is seldom compatible with justice, and indeed, has been the cause of many mistakes in construction that have resulted in the commission of injustice.

Nevertheless, courts are sensitive to the fact that strict construction will often defeat the testator's intention. In more recent cases some courts have preferred a more liberal approach to interpreting wills. British Columbia courts, in particular, have tended to depart from objective interpretation. In several recent cases the courts have interpreted wills in order to discover what the testator intended the language he used to mean.

2. Strict Construction

Theobald on Wills sets out the procedure which the courts are to follow when interpreting a will:

The procedure is not first ascertain the surrounding circumstances and with that knowledge approach the construction of the will, but first construct the will; if the meaning is clear, surrounding circumstances cannot be looked at to throw a doubt upon that meaning, or to give the will a different meaning.

This procedure promotes strict construction and has been cited with approval by the Supreme Court of Canada in *Tottrup* v. *Patterson*.

The case most often cited in support of this procedure is the decision of the House of Lords in *Higgins* v. *Dawson*. The only significant assets possessed by the testator when he executed his will consisted of mortgages securing loans he had made. The testator directed the payment of a number of legacies, and gave the "residue" of the mortgages, after the payment of his debts and funeral and testamentary expenses, to charity. The court was called upon to discover the meaning of "residue," and to determine whether the mortgages were charged with payment of both the testator's debts and the legacies, or of the testator's debts alone. Strictly construed, only the testator's debts were to be deducted from the mort-

gages. On a subjective reading, taking into account that the testator had no other assets to satisfy the legacies when he made his will, it was likely his intention that the legacies were also to be paid out of the mortgages. Nevertheless it was held that, on a strict construction, the mortgages were to be paid to the charity after deduction of the debts of the estate only and that the legacies must abate.

Re Hodgson is another example of strict construction. The testatrix bequeathed her "money" to two named persons. She made no gift of the residue of her estate. "Money" was given its primary meaning and it was held that the will did not effectively dispose of other assets of the testatrix, which consisted of National Savings Certificates and War Stock.

3. The Meaning the Testator Ascribed to the Words Used in his Will

The cases which may be cited against an objective approach to interpretation are of compelling authority. The House of Lords, in *Perrin v. Morgan*, was called upon to interpret another disposition of "money" and was able to read it in a sense wider than its primary meaning in order to give effect to the actual intent of the testatrix. The Supreme Court of Canada, in *Marks v. Marks*, made a searching inquiry into extrinsic circumstances to determine whom was meant by the testator's reference to "my wife." It was alleged that the testator had been married twice. The woman who claimed to be his first and actual wife, however, was unable to prove the marriage. The property went to the testator's "second" wife, the woman with whom he was living at the time of his death. The subjective approach to interpretation has also been confirmed in *Re Burke*, *Re Harmer* and *Haidl v. Sacher*. Professor Feeney, after reviewing Canadian authorities concluded:

... if Canadian law has not yet fully adopted the subjective approach to construction, it at least favours such an approach. Under the subjective approach the ordinary meaning of words is not to be regarded as the objective or dictionary meaning; it is to be regarded as the meaning the words had for the testator. In the first instance, a Canadian Court is thus at least allowed, if not duty bound, to interpret a word or words in the light of all the facts and circumstances of the case, so as to select from among two or more meanings in ordinary use the meaning that makes the most common sense of the testator's will.

We agree with Professor Feeney. Nevertheless it must be recognized that there remains substantial uncertainty in the law concerning which approach should be adopted. In *Re Welsh*, a recent decision, Holland J. preferred subjective interpretation, but felt it necessary to cite long passages from *Marks* v. *Marks*, *Perrin* v. *Morgan* and *Re Burke* in order to justify his decision.

In *Re Klein*, a recent decision of the British Columbia Court of Appeal, the objective approach toward interpretation seems to have been approved. The testator, by will, gave all of his estate to his wife "to hold unto her, her heirs, executors, and administrators, absolutely and forever." There were no children of the marriage. The wife had a son from a previous marriage, whom the testator treated as a member of his family. The testator's wife predeceased him.

The trial judge interpreted the will as providing for the testator's estate to devolve upon his wife if she survived him, and if not, then upon her heirs (the wife's son). The trial judge came to this conclusion after considering the surrounding circumstances which existed when the will was made, including primarily the close relationship between the testator and his wife's son. The words the testator used were ambiguous, and the trial judge's interpretation would appear sensible in the circumstances of the case.

The Court of Appeal rejected that construction. It held that the words were clear and susceptible to only one meaning, which was that the gift to the wife was an absolute gift (i.e., that the words were words of limitation). In the course of the court's judgment, per Taggart J.A., a long passage from *Tottrup* v. *Patterson* was cited, and in particular, that portion of the judgment which dictated that interpretation of wills must be

objective. If the meaning of the words is clear, then the courts may not refer to surrounding circumstances to throw doubt upon that meaning. Evidence of surrounding circumstances is only admissible where the meaning of the words used in the will is in doubt. In the result, the court held that the deceased

died intestate. No nextofkin of the deceased were known. It was likely the estate would escheat to the Crown.

C. Admissibility of Evidence

The general rule with respect to admissibility is that evidence relevant to the issues in dispute is admissible unless barred by some exclusionary rule. Exclusionary rules have been developed which restrict the evidence a court may consider when interpreting a will. Enquiry into extrinsic evidence is ordinarily curtailed because the will itself represents the testator's intention.

At one time it was thought that generally the meaning of documents affecting legal rights should be gathered from the words used in them and not collected from extrinsic circumstances. Thayer, in 1898, commenting on an early decision which favoured objective interpretation, makes the following observations:

The Chief Justice here retires into that lawyer's Paradise where all words have a fixed, precisely ascertained meaning; where men may express their purposes, not only with accuracy, but with fulness; and where, if the writer has been careful, a lawyer, having a document referred to him, may sit in his chair, inspect the text, and answer all questions without raising his eyes. Men have dreamed of attaining for their solemn muniments of title such an absolute security; and some degree of security they have compassed by giving strict definitions and technical meanings to words and phrases, and by rigid rules of construction. But the fatal necessity of looking outside the text in order to identify persons and things, tends steadily to destroy such illusions and to reveal the essential imperfection of language, whether spoken or written.

In fact, no legal document can be interpreted without some reference to extrinsic circumstances. In the interpretation of a will, as with other legal documents, if evidence of extrinsic circumstances is admissible, it may only be used to explain what the testator has written, not what he intended to write. The court cannot give effect to any intention which is neither express nor implied by the words of the will.

These are sensible restrictions on the use of evidence, since the only accurate record of the testator's intentions is his will. It does not follow, however, that the evidence which may be considered to determine the meaning of a will, must be limited so as to require strict, objective or literal interpretation. In many cases the courts will hear evidence of the surrounding circumstances known to the testator when he made his will. This is known as the "armchair rule." Notionally, the court attempts to place itself in the testator's "armchair" when he was making his will, in order to determine what ambiguous directions may mean. There is some doubt, however, concerning when the court may hear evidence, the kinds of evidence it may hear, and for what purposes. In general, the nature of the uncertainty or ambiguity contained in the will determines when the court may hear evidence, and what evidence is admissible.

There are two general categories of ambiguity. A patent ambiguity is one that is apparent on the face of the will. For example, two inconsistent provisions regarding the same gift would create a patent ambiguity. A latent ambiguity, or equivocation, is one that does not appear upon the face of the will but emerges upon reference to extrinsic circumstances. Words used to describe a gift which apply indifferently to two or more or no possible assets or donees may constitute a latent ambiguity.

These two general categories are neither allencompassing nor capable of exact definition. For example, a blank left in a will creates an ambiguity discoverable on the face of the will, but in some cases courts have been prepared to find that it constitutes a latent ambiguity. In some cases the words used are so uncertain that no evidence may be admitted to clarify the gift or its donee, or so apparently certain that no evidence may be led to contradict them.

If evidence is inadmissible, ambiguous provisions may be interpreted by resort to the rules of construction. The rules of construction are often obscure and complex. In many cases they assign an arbitrary meaning to the testator's words. The rules of construction are more fully discussed in Chapter III.

1. Patent Ambiguity

Only evidence of extrinsic circumstances, and not of the testator's dispositive intent, is admissible to resolve a patent ambiguity. The line between evidence of extrinsic circumstances and direct evidence of dispositive intent is very fine and sometimes difficult to draw.

The distinction depends upon the purpose for which the evidence is adduced. Thus, in some cases, evidence which appears to go toward dispositive intent will be admissible for the limited purpose of showing surrounding circumstances. In the case of *Re Ofner*, the testator made a gift to "my grand-nephew Robert Ofner." The testator's grandnephew was named Richard. A memorandum prepared by the testator to instruct his solicitors contained the same mistake but otherwise accurately described Richard. The memorandum was held to be admissible, not as evidence of the testator's dispositive intent, but rather to identify the grandnephew who was inaccurately described. It was said:

It might very well be, and I think probably would be, that if evidence had been given in contradiction shewing that the testator had been in the habit of writing to Richard as Richard, we should not have been able to allow this to countervail it, and that, perhaps, is a way of pointing the difference between using this document as a mere document and using it as instructions ... It could not be used as evidence in contradiction of a proved habit of calling Richard Richard in letters and so on ... for that would be to put it forward as evidence of intention as distinct from evidence of the meaning of the name.

Essentially the distinction is between evidence which goes to the meaning of a word, which is admissible, and that which goes to the testator's intention, which is not. As in the *Re Ofner* case, sometimes the distinction is highly artificial.

Quite apart from the difficulty of characterizing the nature of the ambiguity and the purpose for which extrinsic evidence may be led, there is a conflict of authority on how far evidence of extrinsic circumstances is admissible to guide the court of construction. Some judges hold that extrinsic evidence is admissible only if the will is patently ambiguous and then only to the point of identifying *prima facie* the subject matter or donee of the gift. Courts that adopt this position favour literal or objective interpretation.

In *Re McMahon*, a recent British Columbia Supreme Court decision, the court distinguished between when extrinsic evidence was admissible by reference to the kind of patent ambiguity involved. It was held that the word "wife" permitted the introduction of extrinsic evidence to discover what meaning the testator attached to that word. The phrase "onehalf of the capital", it was held, fell within a different category, to which extrinsic evidence was not admissible. The meaning of that phrase must be its ordinary and general meaning. That approach does not appear to be helpful. By "capital," for example, the testator may have meant a particular fund, or he may have meant the entire estate. If there is an ambiguity in interpretation, extrinsic evidence should be admissible to resolve it.

Other courts hold that extrinsic circumstances may be referred to in every case in order to determine the "ordinary meaning" of the words used even if the will is not patently ambiguous and beyond the point of identifying *prima facie* the subject matter or donee of the gift. In this way courts are more likely to discover the testator's true intent. By "true intent" we do not mean some intention the testator may have had but chose not to record in his will. The testator's "true intent" refers to the meaning he intended the words in his will to convey.

An example of the distinction between these two approaches is to be found in the English case of *Perrin* v. *Morgan*. The testatrix had directed in her will that "all moneys of which I die possessed ... shall be shared by my nephews and nieces now living." The testatrix had very little actual "money" but did possess other substantial personal estate. The primary meaning of "money" is very narrow and, reluctantly, the Court of Appeal held that the gift was not ambiguous. No evidence was admissible to contradict the primary meaning of money. The balance of the personal estate of the testatrix passed on an intes-

tacy. On appeal, the House of Lords held that the strict meaning of "money" was rebutted by the context of the word in the will. What the House of Lords meant by "context" is not entirely clear from the report. They may have meant that grammatically the word must be interpreted in the context of the entire will, but not beyond its "four corners," or they may have meant that the context of circumstances surrounding the making of the will required that the word be read more generously. Lord Atkin clearly favoured the latter view, and said:

... the construing court has to ascertain what was meant, being guided by the other provisions of the will and the other relevant circumstances, including the age and education of the testator, his relations to the beneficiary chosen, whether of kinship or friendship, the provision for other beneficiaries, and other admissible circumstances. Weighing all these, the court must adopt what appears the most probable meaning. To decide on proven probabilities is not to guess but to adjudicate. If this is to decide according to the "context," I am content, but I cannot agree that the court is precluded from looking outside the terms of the will. No will can be analysed in vacuo.

By considering extrinsic evidence, even though it is difficult to characterize a disposition of money as patently ambiguous, the House of Lords was able to discover the meaning of, and give effect to, a disposition as the testatrix most likely intended they should. The Court of Appeal, applying rules of strict construction, felt compelled to come to an arbitrary interpretation, well aware it was probably defeating the intent of the testatrix.

The recent decision of the British Columbia Court of Appeal in *Re Klein*, mentioned earlier, would appear to reflect the law as it was before Re Perrin. There is a need to clarify when the courts may consider extrinsic evidence and for what purposes.

2. Latent Ambiguity

When a gift is latently ambiguous evidence of the testator's dispositive intent may be admissible to resolve the ambiguity. Commenting on the distinction between the kinds of evidence admissible to resolve patent and latent ambiguities, Jarman observes:

It is true, as Lord Selbourne remarked...that the principle does not rest on a rational foundation, but it is clearly established.

Professor Warren makes the following observations respecting the distinction between latent and patent ambiguities:

Direct statements of the testator's meaning are not admissible in aid of construction, except in cases of equivocation [latent ambiguity]. Bacon's Maxims must be referred to. These date from at least as early as 159697.

"There be two sorts of ambiguities of words; the one is *ambiguitas patens* and the other is *ambiguitas latens*. Patens is that which appears to be ambiguous upon the deed or instrument: latens is that which seemeth certain and without ambiguity for any thing that appeareth upon the deed or instrument, but there is some collateral matter out of the deed that breedeth the ambiguity.

Ambiguitas patens is never holpen by averment ..."

It has been pointed out that these rules had nothing to do with any particular kind of admissible evidence; but, indeed, they had to do with pleading. According to the manner of the time, a doubt which arises upon the writing alone must be solved solely from the writing; but a doubt which first arises from the application of the writing to the facts may be resolved from the facts. Later, when the admissibility of external evidence in aid of construction became frequent, the maxims were used sometimes as a test for the production of any evidence whatever, and sometimes in aid of the admissibility of the testator's direct statements of his meaning in the case of equivocation. The history of this has been outlined by Professor James Bradley Thayer. In the early part of the 1700's direct statements by the testator were used much more widely than at present. The rule was hardening, however, in the latter part of that century, and in the 1800's had assumed its modern form as an exception to the general principle of admissibility, and an exception (in cases of equivocation) to the exception.

Thayer states that:

Bacon's maxim was an unprofitable subtlety. In truth, the only patent ambiguity that was not open to explanation by extrinsic matter was one that, in the nature of things, was not capable of explanation.

Bacon's maxim related to pleading, not evidence. It has been suggested that Bacon invented the distinction between patent and latent ambiguities and that it was intended to clarify a very minor aspect of interpretation. It did not receive the general notice of the profession until about 150 years later when it was published as a convenient means of dealing with the whole issue of interpretation. Nevertheless, it was originally created as a means of determining upon what issues evidence would be received, not as a means of determining "the nature of the evidence admissible on each issue."

One example should serve to demonstrate the arbitrary nature of the distinction made between latent and patent ambiguities. A gift "to John's son," John having more than one son, creates a latent ambiguity, and evidence of the testator's dispositive intent would be admissible to determine which son the testator intended to benefit. A gift "to one of the sons of John" or "to _____, John's son," however, may constitute only a patent

ambiguity. If any evidence is admissible, which is arguable, it would be restricted to extrinsic circumstances surrounding the making of the will. The court would not be permitted to refer to evidence of the testator's dispositive intent. The differences in wording do not appear to be so fundamental as to justify the use of substantially different rules of evidence in order to interpret the testator's will. As has been observed elsewhere:

... although the legal rules governing the interpretation of wills are entirely rational, intelligible and well settled, the hands of the Judges in applying them to individual cases are either fettered or free, according to the caprice of the testator in wording his will.

D. Is an Objective Approach Appropriate for the Interpretation of Wills?

The conditions under which wills are made are often conducive to error and ambiguity. A will may be prepared in haste under distracting circumstances. As the Real Property Commissioners observed in 1833:

Cases must frequently occur in which it is desirable that Wills should be made, when there is not time to procure any professional assistance, as on a deathbed, in the event of accident or sudden illness; and there is a disposition in many persons both to delay until the latest moment the making of a Will, and to do it in secrecy, to which the Law must, we think, have regard.

Even when the testator prepares a will in health and at leisure, error and ambiguity may result. When deciding upon the distribution of his estate, a testator is contemplating his own death. His attention may be more fixed upon worrying whether he can adequately provide for dependants than upon expressing himself clearly. He may not realize that he has made provisions which are confusing, or he may be unable to express himself accurately, like the testatrix in the *Re Le Blanc* case, mentioned in Chapter I. The descriptions he uses may tend to be personal, idiosyncratic or eccentric.

If an objective interpretation of a legal instrument other than a will operates harshly, in many cases these results can be alleviated. A statute which has been interpreted contrary to the meaning it was intended to have can be amended. If the provisions of a deed are uncertain or void, another deed can be made, this time accurately recording the maker's intention. If an error has been made in a contract or deed, it may be rectified. But if a will contains an error, or is objectively interpreted to have a meaning other than that which the testator intended it should have, there is no recourse. In our opinion, these factors indicate that objective interpretation is not always appropriate for wills.

It is sometimes argued that the *Wills Variation Act* (formerly known as the *Testator's Family Maintenance Act*) offers a satisfactory means of protecting against errors in interpretation. Under the

Wills Variation Act, a testator's spouse or child may apply for a greater share of the estate if inadequately provided

for in the will. There are two reasons why this is not a satisfactory means of protecting against errors in interpretation. First, beneficiaries prejudiced by a strict construction, other than spouses or children, may not apply. Second, the powers granted to the court under the Wills Variation Act are discretionary. These powers do not assist the court in giving effect to the testator's intent. Indeed, they are often used to defeat the testator's intent.

E. The Arguments in Favour of Objective Interpretation

The arguments in favour of objective interpretation and against the general admissibility of extrinsic evidence may be described under the following headings:

1. The Formalities of Execution

The law stipulates that a valid will must be made observing certain formalities to ensure that the true last wishes of the testator are contained in his will. To depart from a literal reading of the will would make the formalities meaningless or of little effect;

2. Reliable Guides to Intention

There may be no other reliable guide to the testator's intent;

3. Consistency of Interpretation

One will, whenever considered, should be consistently interpreted; and

4. Certainty

The reader of a will, and its maker, can be assured that the will means what it says if it is clear on its face.

We will consider each of these arguments.

1. The Formalities of Execution

The *Wills Act* requires that a will to be valid must be in writing and signed at its end by the testator in the presence of two attesting witnesses. The requirement of two witnesses to the testator's signature is intended to make it more difficult to forge the testator's signature to a fraudulent will. The testator's signature at the end of the will signifies his approval of all that precedes it. Any writing following the signature is disregarded, again in order to limit the opportunity for someone other than the testator to alter his will. Other provisions of the *Wills Act* deal with alteration and revocation of wills, and in each case these provisions are designed to ensure that the will in its final form truly represents the wishes of the testator.

In our Report on *The Making and Revocation of Wills*, we examined these formalities and concluded that as safeguards against fraud, forgery or undue influence, they are not truly effective. As well, many wills which are free of any suspicion of tampering by another, have been found to be invalid because of technical

defects. We recommended the adoption of a dispensing power to save imperfectly executed documents intended by the deceased to have testamentary effect. It was our view that, on balance, fulfilling the testator's intent was worth the minimal risk of fraud and other dangers which such a provision entails.

Although the formalities of execution required by the *Wills Act* may serve other worthwhile purposes, they should not prevent the courts from discovering the meaning the testator ascribed to the words in his will. As one commentator has said:

... the testator's intentions, where they can reasonably be deduced from evidence available, should be paramount [to the formal requirements]; otherwise, the spirit of the *Wills Act* is itself subordinated to the formal requirements designed to put that purpose into effect.

If the formalities of execution restrict enquiry into what the testator intended his will to mean, they defeat their primary function. Rules designed to ensure that the testator's will represents his testamentary intentions untampered with by others, should not be used to prevent the courts from discovering what those testamentary intentions are.

2. Reliable Guides to Intention

In addition to the fear that departing from the literal meaning of a will would jeopardize the protections offered by the formalities of execution, the courts were of the view that only the testator's will could be a reliable guide to his intention. When the will takes effect the testator is dead and only he could have clarified what he intended his will to mean. In 1919, Lord Buckminster observed:

... whatever wavering from the strict rule of construction may have taken in the past, it is now recognized that the only safe method of determining what was the real intention of a testator is to give the fair and literal meaning to the actual language of the will. Human motives are too uncertain to render it wise or safe to leave the firm guide of the words used for the uncertain direction of what it must be assumed that a reasonable man would mean.

That position would appear to underlie the recent decision of the British Columbia Court of Appeal in *Re Klein*, referred to earlier. When the meaning and effect of a will is clear, there can be no objection to literal interpretion. But when a disposition in a will is unclear or ambiguous, then because generally the courts cannot look further than the words of the will to discover what they mean, often the courts must rely upon the rules of construction to find an arbitrarily chosen meaning. When the will is ambiguous, it is clearly inappropriate to characterize it as a "reliable" guide.

There are many cases, however, where evidence of the testator's intention does not perish with him. The decisions of the lower courts in *Sturn* v. *Lettner*, discussed previously, provide examples of the unreasonable results which may be obtained from a literal reading. If there is evidence of the testator's intention

which will assist the courts when interpreting his will, the only justification for disregarding it is the expense of determining its reliability. In many cases, extrinsic evidence may be a reliable guide to the testator's actual intention. It is wrong to reject evidence of intention merely because such evidence can be unreliable or fabricated. Unreliability goes to the weight to be given to such evidence, not to its admissibility. In any event,

evidence which is shown to be unreliable will be disregarded.

3. Consistency of Interpretation

The law strives for consistency because justice requires similar decisions upon similar facts. The attempt to ensure consistency in expression and result from will to will is not only of little value, however, it is futile. Professor Feeney has observed:

... an attempt to construe clauses and phrases of a will in accordance with precedent is apt to lead to a total disregard of the testator's intention. Unlike deeds and similar documents, there is no single form of will or will precedent. Because of the variations from will to will, it would be an unlikely coincidence that two wills would express, on the whole, precisely the same intention.

The need for consistently interpreting expressions used in wills arose at a time when English law permitted one will to be contested in a number of actions and suits. Prior to 1837, equitable, ecclesiastical or common law courts took jurisdiction over wills depending upon the kind of property involved or the nature of the dispute. In some cases the intervention of a court was not required. Wills devising estates in fee simple did not need to be proved unless title was contested. A contemporary discussion described the position as follows:

A final decision respecting the validity of a will cannot be obtained at Law except in a few rare cases. When the Will has been proved in an Action or Suit, it may often be disputed again in another Action or Suit by the same or different parties; and when the persons claiming adversely to the Will do not think proper to bring forward their claims, there are frequently no means of preventing them from disputing the validity of the Will at a future time.

Consistent interpretation in this context means not so much that like wills should be construed alike, but that one will, in however many actions it might be considered, should be construed identically. Reform legislation reduced litigation by referring all questions of interpretation to the Courts of Equity. These courts were given jurisdiction to make a final determination of the meaning of a will, subject only to the usual appeal process.

Additionally, it should be remembered, many matters of interpretation came before common law courts and were heard by juries. Many exclusionary rules of evidence were created to prevent juries from being misled. This was not a concern for courts of equity, where juries were not used:

Courts of equity by the end of the seventeenth century, besides looking more freely at extrinsic facts, had begun to use a writer's extrinsic expressions of intention in a much freer way than courts of law. Adhering to the rule that extrinsic intention must not be used to displace or vary that of the writing, they nevertheless found many ways of using it, and even of using the direct oral expression of it. These courts, having no jury, had not before them, in listening to whatsoever evidence might help them, the apprehension so often expressed by the commonlaw judges that "it is not safe to admit a jury to try the intent of the testator." It must be remembered what such a fear at that period meant. Not yet had any distinct system of rules for excluding evidence come into existence. The power of judges to set aside verdicts as being against the evidence had begun to be exercised, but had not got far. The attaint was still the regular way of controlling the jury, and this had practically lost its hold ..."This is not," said an equity court, in 1708, in considering the question of hearing oral statements of a testator's intention, "like the case of evidence for a jury, who are easily biased by it, which this court is not." In 1736 we read in Bacon's Abridgment that the rule of rejecting "parol evidence ... to control what appeared on the face of a deed or will ... has received a relaxation, especially in the courts of equity, where a distinction has been taken between evidence that may be offered to a jury, and to inform the conscience of the court, namely, that in the first case no such evidence should be admitted, because the jury might be inveigled thereby; but that in the second it could do no hurt, because the court were judges of the whole matter, and could distinguish what weight and stress ought to be laid on such evidence."

It is probable that the parol evidence rule and the Statute of Frauds, both of which restrict the essential question of interpretation to an examination of the writing which records the legal transaction, were created because of the lack of rules restricting the use of a jury. Commenting on the Statute of Frauds, Thayer suggests:

It is not probable that so widereaching an act could have been passed if jury trial had been on the footing which it holds today.

Questions respecting interpretation of wills are no longer heard by juries. Nevertheless, these rules, which were developed for juries, still apply.

Objectively interpreting wills disposing of realty answered the needs of "a landholding system which was dependent for its preservation upon certainty of ownership." Under the traditional English system of conveyancing, the validity of past transactions conveying land determined whether the present owner's title was good. Each conveying document in the chain of title was subject to scrutiny. Testamentary dispositions of real property must, to achieve security of title, be susceptible to consistent interpretation. In each subsequent conveyance of the land, the will would be examined to determine whether it had validly passed title.

The preference for objective interpretation of wills is, to a great extent, the result of nine-teenthcentury jurisdictional questions. The reluctance to use extrinsic evidence to determine intent was not a matter of the courts being unalterably opposed to giving effect to the meaning the words in the will held for the testator, discovered by reference to extrinsic circumstances, but rather one of the integrity of legal title requiring objective determination. For the same reason it was suggested that "the strict rules by which the language of Deeds is interpreted, should be extended to Wills." But this suggestion was rejected by the Real Property Commissioners as being inappropriate for the interpretation of wills.

4. Certainty

While the achievement of certainty is a desirable goal, it is unlikely that it is achieved by objective interpretation. If a disposition is clear in its terms, both objective interpretation and attempting to discover what meaning the testator ascribed to the words he used will achieve certain results. For example, a gift of "\$100 to A" is not susceptible to any other construction than that A is to receive \$100. Problems may arise if more than one possible beneficiary is named A, but under the current law, courts may refer to extrinsic circumstances, including evidence of dispositive intent, to determine whom the testator intended to benefit.

A gift of "my money to A," however, does not make any sense unless extrinsic circumstances are referred to in order to determine what "my money" consists of. Words are used to describe reality, and the meaning of many words depends upon their correspondence to existing circumstances. Certainty is not achieved

by ignoring those circumstances. A significant part of those circumstances will consist of direct evidence of the testator's dispositive intent.

F. Conclusion

Nineteenthcentury reforms successfully prevented disputes concerning wills from generating multiple proceedings and thereby removed the need for consistent interpretation of one will from court to court in a variety of different suits and actions. Moreover, in British Columbia a modern land title registration system, under which registration is proof of title, has replaced the old English landholding system. The demise of the English system of conveyancing, the centralization of construction questions in one court, and the removal of these questions from jury consideration should have been accompanied by the demise of rules requiring the strict construction of wills.

We have concluded that, on balance, the policy of discovering the meaning the words in the will held for the testator should carry more weight than the policy of construing like wills alike since, in order to achieve the latter policy, it is often necessary to attribute arbitrary and artificial meanings to wills.

G. Reform

1. Admissibility of Evidence

The thrust of the law relating to the interpretation of wills is to limit or exclude extrinsic evidence in order to confine the inquiry to the four corners of the will. Although, as we noted earlier, the law has not yet finally determined whether the objective or subjective approach to interpeting wills should prevail, the bias against evidence of extrinsic circumstances and of the testator's intent is, for the most part, a corollary to the

adoption of objective standards of interpretation.

The English Law Reform Committee summarized the law and the reasons for it as follows:

The broad picture is thus one of construing the words of the will according to their primary meaning, with the total exclusion of any other evidence of the testator's dispositive intention save in the case of equivocations, and a strictly limited admission of extrinsic evidence as to surrounding circumstances and possible secondary meanings of words in case of doubt. This system clearly conduces to certainty in the sense that the volume of material to be construed is severely restricted, and only rarely will any of it consist of oral or affidavit evidence, or, indeed, anything except the will itself. In short, there will rarely be any dispute about what material is to be put before the court in order to determine the effect of the will. On the other hand, however restricted the material and however skilled the draftsman, it is impossible to exclude all disputes in all circumstances.

A majority of the committee concluded that:

... apart from direct evidence of the testator's dispositive intention (which would continue as before to be receivable only in cases of equivocation), extrinsic evidence of any kind should be admissible to assist in the interpretation of a will.

A minority of the English Law Reform Committee recommended that direct evidence of the testator's dispositive intent should also be admissible to assist in the interpretation of a will. As will be seen, the minority view prevailed in England and has been incorporated in legislation in the *Administration of Justice Bill*, 1981.

The Chief Justice's Law Reform Committee of Victoria came to a conclusion similar to that reached by the majority of the English Law Reform Committee. They recommended:

In the construction of a will acts facts and circumstances touching intention of the testator shall be considered and evidence of such acts facts and circumstances shall be admitted accordingly but evidence of a statement by the testator declaring the intention to be effected or which had been effected by the will or any part thereof shall not be received in proof of the intention declared unless the statement would apart from this section be received in proof of the intention declared.

We agree that evidence of extrinsic circumstances should be admissible in every case to aid the court in interpreting a will. Occasionally, although the meaning of a word, a phrase, or the "dispositive intent" collected from the will may appear to be clear, it will not accord with the testator's actual intention. This happened in *Perrin* v. *Morgan*.

However, we would go further than the Law Reform Committee and the Chief Justice's Law Reform Committee of Victoria. In our opinion the present rules, and the clumsiness of the distinction between patent and latent ambiguity, too often prevent the court from discovering what the testator intended his will to mean. Observations made in the Report of the (English) Council of Justice support this conclusion:

We think that at any rate as regards homemade wills it is the rules of evidence rather than the positive rules of construction which cause most hardship. We think that where a testator has clearly expressed himself in his will it should not be open to a disappointed relative to call evidence to try to prove that he meant something different; but where the will contains a plain ambiguity there is likely to be litigation in any event. Litigation which excludes all direct evidence about the point in issue can only reflect discredit on the legal system. It may be said that the admission of direct evidence is an invitation to fabricate it; this argument is no more valid now than when it was used to support the exclusion of the evidence of the parties in litigation generally.

The English *Administration of Justice Bill, 1981*, recently introduced in the House of Lords, as we mentioned, has followed the approach recommended by the minority of the English Law Reform Commission with respect to the interpretation of wills. Section 21 of that Bill provides as follows:

21. (1) This section applies to a will

- (a) in so far as any part of it is meaningless;
- (b) in so far as the language used in any part of it is ambiguous on the face of it;
- (c) in so far as evidence, other than evidence of the testator's intention, shows that the language used in any part of it is ambiguous in the light of surrounding circumstances.

(2) In so far as this section applies to a will extrinsic evidence, including evidence of the testator's intention, may be admitted to assist in its interpretation.

The effect of subsections (a), (b) and (c) is to require a "peg" upon which extrinsic evidence might be introduced. That approach is designed to avoid problems that might arise if disappointed relations sought to raise issues of intepretation based solely upon evidence of the testator's statements respecting the effect of his

will. Only if a question of interpretation arises on the face of the will or by reference to extrinsic circumstances is evidence of the testator's intention admissible to resolve that question. That approach ensures that the language of the will does not become a side issue.

We also note that in New Jersey the courts have reached this position without the assistance of legislative reform:

Until 1962, New Jersey courts subscribed to the traditional rule which precludes efforts to discover, independent of the will, what the testator meant to say and limits the judicial prerogative to deciding what the testator meant by what he or she said in the will. In *Fidelity Union Trust Co. v. Robert* and the decisions that followed, the Supreme Court of New Jersey articulated a fresh approach to the law of will construction. No longer restricting itself to searching out the accepted meaning of the words appearing in the will itself, the court sanctioned the examination of a wide range of extrinsic evidence including the testator's expressions of intent and evidence of "common human impulses" affecting the testator at the time the will was executed. The court stated that its objective in will interpretation cases was to discern what the testator would subjectively have desired if he or she had anticipated the occurrence of the extant contingency. The heart of this innovative doctrine is the court's resolve "to construe a testamentary instrument to achieve the result most consonant with the testator's 'probable intent."

The New Jersey courts, analyzing will interpretation problems in terms of the testator's probable intent, have recognized that very seldom will extrinsic evidence demonstrate what the testator's actual intent was. Nevertheless, in many circumstances it will be reasonable to give effect to the 'probable intent' of the testator. It should be observed, however, that the New Jersey courts regard direct evidence of the testator's intent with some suspicion. It is not used to control the meaning of a testator's will. It is used to shed light on the testator's directions in his will:

The Supreme Court of New Jersey has not been without some concern for the manner in which its probable intent doctrine is employed by the trial courts. In rejecting an assertion that the term "securities" as used in a will included real estate, the court admonished that the authority to probe for the testator's probable intent "must be most carefully exercised and should not be utilized unless the court is thoroughly convinced that it is required the need for its exercise must be 'manifest.' Otherwise its exercise would amount to varying the terms of a will as distinguished from merely effectuating a testator's intent.

We have concluded that this should be the proper approach to the interpretation of a will. We are therefore of the view that evidence of extrinsic circumstances and direct evidence of dispositive intent should be admissible to aid the courts in the interpretation of a will.

2. Whether Litigation Will Increase

It is conceivable that disappointed heirs may be encouraged to contest a will if they are able to adduce evidence of the testator's dispositive intent. But the present rules already provide ample grounds to dispute wills. Evidence in the nature of "he always wanted me to have the house" will not be compelling if no conceivable construction of the will would support that contention. Evidence of the testator's dispositive intent, such as contemporaneous memoranda, could resolve many problems presently arising without creating new ones, but their only use would be to aid the court of construction in interpreting the testator's will.

As was observed in the minority report of the English Law Reform Committee:

It is not suggested that the law should allow direct evidence of the testator's intention to be set up against the plain words of the will itself, or that the court should in any way be empowered to write the testator's will for him. There must be a legitimate "peg" on which to hang the admission of evidence... It appears that in [the continental] countries no exclusionary rules of evidence are in force today and the courts consider their task to be to give effect to the testator's intention, however proved, provided there is the necessary peg in the words of the will.

The qualification that the words used in the will must in some way support the construction put forward should substantially limit litigation for litigation's sake. In *Haidl v. Sacher*, it was said:

I consider this to be an unfortunate state of the law in that it leads to constructions being placed upon wills which are often contrary to the wishes of the testator. The preferable position, in my view, would be to accept extraneous evidence as to the testator's intentions and to place only such weight upon the evidence as the court considers desirable in the circumstances. One can readily appreciate the pitfalls in situations where competing beneficiaries file conflicting affidavits as to their understanding of the testator's wishes, and in those events little weight should be given to the depositions. On the other hand, it seems to me that a court should be entitled to decide whether or not it wishes to rely upon the affidavit of a solicitor who drew the will explaining his instructions from the testator, that is, the question should be one of weight and not of admissibility.

This approach was approved of in *Re Flinton*; *Canada Trust Co.* v. *Banks*. Mr. Justice Legg's conclusion, however, appears to be directly contrary to that of the British Columbia Court of Appeal in *Re Klein*.

The time spent in considering extrinsic evidence will often replace the time consumed considering which rule of construction is appropriate, whether a particular rule remains valid today or whether it is overridden by the testator's expressed intention. We do not mean to suggest that the result should be no increase in time spent in litigation, but we do anticipate a trade-off. Another benefit which might reasonably be expected is that increased power to give effect to a disposition in a will as the testator intended, which, in many cases is merely a common sense reading of the will, should reduce the incidence of applications for construction based upon highly technical arguments. Furthermore, a court is able to some extent to control the evidence it will hear. Granting courts a power to hear additional evidence will not deprive the court of its power to exclude irrelevant evidence, or evidence which is inadmissible under other exclusionary rules.

In the Republic of Ireland, the following legislation was enacted in 1965:... it seems that it has so far received little or no judicial consideration. However, it is understood that the section is regarded by at least one judge of the Irish High Court as having already had a beneficial influence

Extrinsic evidence shall be admissible to show the intention of the testator and to assist in the construction of, or to explain any contradiction in, a will.

It is our understanding that the enactment of the Irish provision has not increased litigation. In one of the rare cases in which the section has received judicial consideration, the courts approached its use cautiously. In that case the testatrix had left her estate (referring to it as the "Trust Fund") to her trustees upon various trusts.

One of those trusts consisted of setting aside the sum of L1000 to purchase and furnish a cottage for two beneficiaries, M and G. The testatrix directed that "the balance then remaining" was to be invested and the income paid to M and G, or the survivor of them until his or her death. A further legacy was made to the parish priest, and the residue of the Trust Fund was to be divided between her two brothersinlaw.

The will very clearly indicated that the sum to be invested on behalf of M and G was the balance remaining from the L1000. M and G claimed that "the balance then remaining" referred to the Trust Fund, which consisted of approximately L50,000. The parties attempted to introduce extrinsic evidence to support their respective positions. That evidence was flatly contradictory. It would appear, therefore, that whether section 90 had been narrowly or broadly interpreted, the interpretation of

the will urged by M and G should have failed; see also Bennett v. Bennett, (H.C., Jan. 24, 1977) referred to in Rowe v. Law, supra. While very little can be deduced from an absence of judicial consideration, we suspect one explanation is that this reform, rather than impeding the administration of justice, performs a beneficial function. As was observed in the minority report of the English Law Reform Committee:

Nothing could be more relevant to the construction of a will than the surrounding circumstances at the time it was made; and one of the most important of these circumstances is the testator's intention.

We agree with this observation. In our opinion, even if opening up new areas of admissible evidence may encourage some litigation over the interpretation of wills, this is a small price to pay for increased accuracy in giving effect to the provisions of a will as intended by the testator.

3. Limits of Admissibility

A new problem may arise from expanding the admissibility of evidence for the interpretation of wills. The testator may change his mind concerning the meaning he intended his will to have after he has made the will or, even if his intention remains the same, he may make contradictory statements concerning it.

It should not matter at what times the testator expresses his subjective intent, apart from the will, provided he is consistent. But assume that the testator, on various occasions, makes different statements about the effect of his will, and that his intent changes according to circumstances that arise. Even if the evidence adduced is clear and compelling, it cannot be said that the meaning the testator intended his will to have can be discovered. The courts must then construe the effect of the gift objectively. Allowing the testator's last expressed wishes to control the effect of his will would amount to sanctioning oral variation of wills. Permitting oral variation of wills would open the door to the dangers avoided by the formalities of execution.

The time when the testator's intent is expressed is irrelevant, so long as it is an expression of what the testator intended his will to mean at the time when it was made. But in no event should evidence of that intent override the words of a will. Otherwise a testator could alter, vary, revoke or revive portions of his will orally, without following the required formalities.

Under the present law, admissible extrinsic evidence is confined to the surrounding circumstances known to the testator at the time he made his will1 The one exception to this principle is the statutory provision that a will speaks from the testator's death. Professor Feeney describes the effect of this exception as follows:

The controlling factor in construing a will, the intention of the testator, is the intention which he had when he executed the will. The surrounding circumstances which are to be taken into consideration are the circumstances which existed at the time of the execution of the will and which were known to the testator. There is a very important exception to this rule. By statute a will is to be construed as to the property comprised in it as of the date of the testator's death. Yet it is a matter of construction of the whole will whether the testator intended a particular clause referring to persons, property, or any other matter, to speak from his death, from the time of his will, or from some other time. As a rule, however, a description of persons or donees is to be read as of the date of the will, while a description of property, whether real or personal, comes under the statutory rule and is to be read as of the date of death.

The provision of the *Wills Act* that, subject to a contrary intention, a will, with respect to the testator's property, speaks from the time of his death, was enacted to bring the law into step with what most testators must intend. It is a statutory rule of construction which replaced the earlier rule that a gift of real estate was confined to property possessed by the testator at the time he made his will. A gift of personal estate included property possessed by the testator at the time of his death. Under the former rule, a gift of "my house" would be construed to mean the house owned by the testator when he made his will, regardless of whether the house had been sold and replaced by another. Clearly the statutory rule more nearly corresponds to what most testators must intend when they make general gifts.

H. Comment and Recommendation

In our Working Paper we proposed that:

The Wills Act be amended to provide that relevant direct or indirect evidence, including evidence of the testator's dispositive intent, is admissible to assist in the interpretation of a will.

The chief concern shared by many of our correspondents was that legislation based upon the proposals in the Working Paper would go too far. Our conclusion that courts should interpret the terms of a will in order to give effect to it as the testator intended when he made his will, rather than interpret wills objectively, was seen

by some as a suggestion that the will itself should have little importance and that courts should attempt to discover and give effect to the testator's intent even if it was not recorded in the will. That result was neither intended nor proposed by the Commission.

A will is the only record of the testator's intentions, and the courts must give effect to the directions contained in that will. If, as occurs from time to time, the will is ambiguous, either on its face or by reference to extrinsic circumstances, the courts should seek to discover what meaning the testator ascribed to the words he used in his will. For that purpose, the evidence the courts may consider should not be limited.

One of our correspondents wrote:

On balance I am not totally convinced that the recommendation will indeed make it easier for a court to get at the testator's intention for the evidence that might well resolve the difficulty will not be available. Conversely, while granting that the language of the will is often the source of the problem, I think that one should be careful not to go so far in admitting external evidence that the language of the will itself becomes something of a side issue.

Our aim was not to provide a solution to all interpretation problems. That cannot be done. Our goal was to ensure that the courts had adequate tools to deal with those problems. In that respect, our proposal was aimed at ensuring that the courts had available to them all relevant evidence on issues raised.

A number of our correspondents agreed that direct evidence of dispositive intent should be admissible. One group wrote:

We think that the arguments against this kind of evidence in a contract case are not compelling in a wills case because evidence of what one party to a contract intended does not go any distance as to what the other party intended or what the intent should be that is reflected in the contract, whereas there is only one intent in a wills case. The situation is so common of a testator doing things in his will that are quite contrary to the things that he tells his friends and family that he is doing, that we think it would be a very rare case where direct evidence of the testator's dispositive intent will carry any weight whatsoever where the will itself is clear. However, we do not see any reason why you should further complicate your recommendations by making it a preliminary to the introduction of such evidence that there be an ambiguity, patent, latent or otherwise.

Most of those correspondents who were initially opposed to the proposal, were not so much opposed to the admissibility of direct evidence of dispositive intent, as to the uses to which they suspected that evidence would be put. They were concerned that the courts would attempt to give effect to an intention expressed orally by the testator, but which, upon no reasonable construction, could be supported by the will. At meetings with interested and expert persons the Commission clarified that the only use which should be made of such evidence was to aid the courts in the interpretation of the will itself, and that that was what was meant by the concluding words of the proposal "to assist in the interpretation of wills." A majority of those present at the meetings agreed that that approach was unobjectionable.

To avoid any possibility of confusion, we think the principle, that the court's primary function when interpreting a will is to give effect to the will itself, should be contained in legislation enacting our other recommendations. Those recommendations are designed only to assist the courts in determining what the testator meant by the words in his will, not to encourage courts to arrive at interpretations the testator did not intend his will to have.

The Commission recommends that:

1. Legislation should be enacted to confirm that the courts' primary function when construing a will is to give effect to the testamentary directions contained in the will.

As we mentioned, the proposals in the Working Paper were not designed to violate that principle. They are significant only in order to determine what meaning the testator intended his will to convey when he made it.

Our principal concern was to encourage courts to construe wills more liberally so that provisions which are obscurely framed would not be subject to rigorous or strict construction achieving results not intended by the testator. As we mentioned earlier, strict construction was a creation of the courts of the 18th and 19th centuries. Prior to that period, evidence was more readily admissible to aid the court of construction and the courts were more willing to inquire into what the language used by the testator meant to him. Special reasons, which no longer apply, made strict construction desirable, even though the result was often to distribute the deceased's estate in a way he did not intend. It was thought that by removing technical rules respecting the admissibility of evidence, the courts would find it an easier task to interpret wills. Obviously, this reform is significant only in cases where there is relevant extrinsic evidence.

Our ambitions with respect to proposal 1 were relatively minor. It was not thought that all problems of construction would be resolved by modifying rules of admissibility. Two beneficial results were anticipated:

- (1) that the courts would no longer have to enter into the sterile debate of whether an ambiguity was patent or whether it was latent to resolve whether evidence was admissible; and
- (2) that all relevant evidence respecting the meaning of the language in the will was before the courts.

It is difficult to see how permitting the courts to consider relevant evidence will in any way impair the significance of the will itself. We remain convinced that these are desirable goals to accomplish. Nevertheless, we have modified our original proposal to clarify that extrinsic evidence may only be used to determine the meaning the testator ascribed to the words used in his will. It should not be used to come to a construction not supported by the terms of the will itself.

The Commission recommends that:

2. Legislation should be enacted to provide that relevant evidence, including statements made by the testator or other evidence of his intent, is admissible to determine the meaning the testator, when executing his will, attached to the words used therein.

I. Summary

The present rules which dictate when extrinsic evidence is admissible to aid in the construction of a will are neither straightforward nor consistent. In order to interpret a contested will with accuracy, evidence of extrinsic circumstances should be admissible in every case. Such evidence should also include evidence of the testator's intent. In a case in which evidence of the testator's intent will be neither compelling nor reliable, the courts can be trusted to determine the weight it should be given. There is no need for a blanket exclusion of such evidence.

Evidence of the testator's intent is not a substitute for the testator's will. Together with the words used in the testator's will, the intent thereby expressed, the context in which the words are found and the intent collected from the whole of the will, an untrammelled ability to hear evidence would be only a part of an integrated approach to interpretation, enabling the courts to discover and to give effect to the meaning the testator intended his will to convey, provided always that the wording of the will is conistent with that construction.

A. Introduction

In Chapter II we mentioned that the common law developed rules of construction to aid in the interpretation of wills. Our conclusion that the courts should be permitted to resort to extrinsic evidence when interpreting wills brings into question the utility of the rules of construction. The rules of construction raise initial presumptions concerning the meaning of words used by a testator. For the purposes of our discussion we have divided these rules into two groups: those rules which are of general application, providing the court with guiding principles, and those which pertain to specific wording.

B. General Rules of Construction

General rules of construction do not so much fix the meanings of specific words as provide the court with guiding principles of construction. As such they are fairly flexible and seldom interfere with discovering what effect the testator intended his will to have. In fact, they are so flexible that some conflict. For example, it is a rule of construction that a will should be construed to avoid an intestacy, subject to the rule that those entitled on intestacy are not to be deprived of their statutory rights other than by express words or clear intention gathered from the will. In operation, these rules encourage courts to seek out the meaning the testator ascribed to the words he used in his will and to give effect to it. Very little can be said against retaining such rules.

Similarly unobjectionable is the rule that a legal consequence is preferred over one which is illegal or offends a rule of law, even when it can be shown that the testator did not know the effect in law of what he has directed. If the testator intended a consequence, that he did not realize was illegal, application of the rule may still save the gift.

Although a sensible intention is preferred over one that is capricious, it is recognized that testators can be unreasonable, whimsical and, within certain limits, irrational. If there is any uncertainty in a gift, for example, to children or to kin of equal degree, it is presumed that the testator intended to benefit each member of the class equally. If there is any uncertainty in a gift to kin of unequal degree, it is presumed that the testator intended to favour nearer kin over more distant relatives. These rules operate only as guides to interpretation

and, consequently, encourage the courts to discover the effect the testator intended his will to have.

Other general rules of construction are more arbitrary and allow the courts less scope for interpretation to discover what the testator meant. For example, recurring words are taken to have the same meaning, and in the case of irreconcilable gifts, the last is presumed to prevail. But even these rules do not prevent the courts from attempting to glean the testator's intentions since against them can be set other general rules. For example, the meaning of a word is controlled by its context, and so the meanings of recurring words may vary. The last of two irreconcilable gifts will not prevail in a variety of cases, for example, if an intestacy would result, or there is an intent to give a moiety, or there is a construction which recognizes the reasonable expectations of persons having claims against the testator's bounty. Another rule which assists in giving effect to the testator's intent is that if a consistent scheme of distribution is apparent from the will, doubtful portions must be construed to accord with that scheme.

On the whole, the general rules of construction are useful aids to interpretation. Although arbitrary in nature, they do not necessarily restrict the court from seeking the meaning the testator intended his will to have and giving effect to it. In many cases they confirm the court's flexibility to interpret the testator's will.

C. Specific Rules of Construction

Specific rules of construction have a quite different effect on the interpretation of wills than do general rules of construction. Because specific rules impose upon certain words or phrases a somewhat firm interpretation, these rules may discourage a court from searching for what the testator actually meant. They

provide objective standards which may not only reflect what many people using certain words would mean, but also provide an easy substitute for inquiry into what the testator might have meant in the will in question.

Specific rules of construction are too numerous to list here, nor is much to be gained by discussing each one and demonstrating how it may frustrate a testator's intentions. The following examples should suffice to illustrate the arbitrary nature of these rules.

The socalled rule in *Sibley* v. *Perry* provides that when the word "issue" is used in conjunction with words denoting "parent" as the first taker, it means "children" of that parent. If a testator makes a gift, for example, to "my three sisters or their issue" one might suppose that, if all three sisters predecease the testator subject to the class closing rules, any child, grandchild, etc., of the sisters alive at the testator's death would share in the gift. But the effect of the rule is to restrict the gift to children of the sisters, unless a use of the word "issue" elsewhere in the will enlarges the construction. If only grandchildren of the sisters survive the testator, the gift may lapse.

A testator may make a gift to "the children of A and B." Unless A and B are parents of the same children, the gift is ambiguous since it may mean either that the children of A and the children of B, or that B and the children of A, are to be benefitted. The rule in *Re Dale* indicates that the latter construction is preferred. The other construction is equally likely to represent the testator's intention.

There are many other specific rules of construction. The following are examples of the *prima* facie meanings that certain words are presumed to hold: a gift to "children" does not include grandchildren; a gift to "grandchildren" does not include greatgrandchildren; a gift to "cousins" includes only first cousins;

a gift to the "family" of a person includes only his children. The restricted primary meanings of these words may make construction an easier or more convenient task, but they limit inquiry into what the testator intended the words to mean.

In order to resolve the problem of when a gift is to vest, courts have developed a bewildering array of rules. Distinctions are often made upon subtle differences of wording, and the resulting constructions often bear no relation to what the testator must have intended, or what a common sense reading of the will would suggest. For example, devises to A "if," "when," "upon," "as he shall attain," or "from and after" his attaining a specific age, although the words themselves are not determinative, have been held to create a contingent interest (one that will not vest until the contingency is met). A devise which, in a separate direction, is to "take effect" upon A's attaining a specific age has been held to be vested subject to being divested. So, too, a

devise "to A unless he fails to attain 21 and then to B" has been held to be vested subject to being divested. The different effects of these two constructions may be quite far reaching: while a contingent gift may offend the rule against perpetuities, one which is vested subject to divestment will not. The donee of a contingent gift is not entitled to income; the donee of a gift which is vested subject to divestment is so entitled.

As a last example, the testator may make a gift to "my children." The *prima facie* rule is that only legitimate children are intended to take. Again, the meaning is determined without regard to the testator's intention. The testator may have intended to benefit illegitimate children as well.

Concerning the origins of specific rules of construction, Holdsworth has written:

... the prevailing idea at this period [during the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries when rules for the construction of particular expressions used in deeds and wills increased and multiplied] was that "the words of a legal document inherently possess a fixed and unalterable meaning"; and the cases which lay down these rules were, to a large extent, the product of this idea. In fact, it was thought to be dangerous to allow the expressions used by the parties to any written instrument to be interpreted by other than fixed rules. These expressions, it was thought, always ought to have the same fixed meaning. The meaning which a case had put upon an expression must be always adhered to, as if the case assigning that meaning had laid down a rule of law; and, though intent must be considered, "it must be according as it appears upon the will, and according to the known rules of law; it is not to be left to a latitude, and as it may be guessed at." As these rules grew in number and elaboration, less scope was given for a consideration of the real intentions of the parties, with the result that, according to the admission of the judges themselves, these intentions were often disregarded.

As the examples indicate, the specific rules of construction determine the meanings of various words used by the testator without regard to the meaning he attached to them. When ambiguous testamentary directions provide no guide to what effect the testator contemplated they should have, the use of specific rules of construction may be convenient. However, when the deceased's testamentary intent can be determined, and yet he has not made provisions which clearly prevent the operation of the applicable rule or rules, the courts are placed in an invidious position. Either they must adopt an arbitrary meaning which they know will frustrate the testator's wishes, or they must find some means of evading the rules of construction.

The force and effect of some rules of construction has been eroded over the years. For example, the rule in *Sibley* v. *Perry* (mentioned above) is now easily displaced. In both *Re Manly's Will Trusts* and *Re Spencer*, the courts, when called upon to construe a will, interpreted the word "issue" without regard to any presumption concerning its *prima facie* meaning. Similar observations can be made about many other rules of construction. Holdsworth describes the gradual change in the use of rules of construction, as follows:

At the same time, the courts themselves have set their faces against the manufacture of new rules of construction; they have revised some of the older rules which had grown up during the eighteenth century notably the rules as to the circumstances under which a trust would be inferred from precatory words; and, while recognizing old established and existing rules, they no longer think that the consideration of lines of more or less analogous cases is a necessary preliminary to the ascertainment of the intentions of the framer of the document which is before the court. In other words, they have come to recognize the distinction between a rule of construction and an inference of fact as to the meaning of a particular document.

Concerning "the modern judicial reluctance to be bound by traditional rules," C.H. Sherrin has made the following observations:

... traditional named rules which have not been applied in recent cases include the rule in *Gundry* v. *Pinniger*, not applied in *Re Gansloser's Will Trusts*; the rule in *Brown* v. *Lord Kenyon*, not applied in *Re Douglas Will Trusts*, and the rule in *Lassence* v. *Tierney*, not applied in *Re Goold's Will Trusts* ... Similarly one can cite other modern cases where *prima facie* rules of construction were not followed, for example: *Re Jeeves* (not following *prima facie* rule of per capita division); *Re Ransome*, dec'd. (deciding against the policy of early vesting); *Re Herwin* (illegitimate children included contrary to the *prima facie* rule); *Re Levy*, dec'd. (*prima facie* rule in *Phillips* v. *Chamberlain* that the capital of the residue passes by implication where the interest is given not followed); *Re Jebb*, dec'd. (*prima facie* meaning of "children" being legitimate children, and not illegitimate or other kinds of children, departed from); *Re Clanchy's Will Trusts* (*prima facie* rule that nextofkin are to be ascertained at the death of the testator, not followed); *Re Drake's Will Trusts* (*prima facie* rule that "male descendants" is a term of art, not followed).

However, one must not seek to give the impression that rules of construction are never applied in modern cases.

In fact, in many cases the rules of construction continue to be applied. The presumption that "children" means legitimate children, for example, is seldom rebuttable. The rules are said to be "so firmly established as to compel adherence."

D. The Effect of Rules of Construction

When a rule of construction applies, and the force of the presumption it raises, are not altogether certain. Courts may take different approaches, and find ample precedent to support whatever course they adopt.

A rule of construction may fix the ordinary meaning of a word and prevent further inquiry into the testator's intent. When this occurs, an arbitrary construction prevails over interpretation according to the deceased's ambiguously expressed testamentary intent. A common example is a gift "to the children of A."

According to the rule in *Andrews* v. *Partington*, the class closes at the testator's death, if there are any lives then in being, and any afterborn children of A are excluded. The testator may have intended to benefit all of the children of A, but no inquiry may be made to ascertain whether that construction of the words used in the will was intended by the testator.

A rule of construction may determine the *prima facie* meaning of a word or words, which may then be rebutted by extrinsic evidence. What constitutes sufficient evidence for the purpose of rebutting a *prima facie* meaning is also uncertain. Sometimes the evidence need only suggest a reasonable meaning and indicate

that the *prima facie* meaning is unreasonable. For example, if the evidence discloses that only illegitimate children are alive, then the presumption that a gift "to my children" includes only legitimate children is rebutted.

Another example is to be found in *Canada Permanent Trust Co.* v. *Guinn*. In that case the testator's executrix was bequeathed a legacy which was larger than any other legacy made in the will. The usual rule is that, unless the will otherwise directs, a legacy to an executor is made in lieu of remuneration for administering the estate. In *Guinn*, the petitioner trust company was a coexecutor, and presumably performed the bulk of administrative duties. The court, however, considered extrinsic evidence which indicated that the respondent had been a longtime friend of the testator as well as business associate. The court held, therefore, that the respondent was entitled to both the legacy and remuneration for executor duties. Since one construction is as appropriate as the other, we think the courts should weigh extrinsic evidence to determine whether a rule of construction is appropriate. That evidence need only indicate what the testator's intention might have been. It need not prove conclusively what that intention was.

Sometimes the presumption may be rebutted only by clear and compelling evidence or by express contrary intention contained in the will. Lastly, the *prima facie* meaning may be tested, not with regard to the testator's intent, but against present policies and social attitudes to see if the meaning so controlled is still

valid. This was the approach taken by Manson, J. in *Re Hogbin*. However, this approach is disapproved of by commentators and is usually rejected by the courts on the ground that the arbiter of policy and social attitudes is the Legislature.

Occasionally it is said that a rule of construction may be applied only if the meaning of words in a will remains uncertain after construing the will with reference to extrinsic circumstances. Of all the various approaches, this is the most sensible if the courts are to be able to discover the meaning the testator intended his will to have. However, even if the courts are at first free to determine the meaning the testator attached to

the words in his will, reference to a timehonoured rule of construction may often cause that interpretation to give way to an objective standard. The case of *Sturn v. Lettner Estate* mentioned in the previous chapter is representative of the general problem. There the testator's intention to benefit the plaintiff was clearly expressed in the will, and yet the lower courts found it extremely difficult to give effect to this intention because of the apparently contrary meaning of the words used to make the gift. The use of the rules of construction presents a more difficult problem: the words used by the testator may support the meaning attached to them, and yet an arbitrary presumption raised by the rules will prevent the courts from giving effect to that intention.

E. Reform

As we have discussed, in many cases the rules of construction guide the courts to objective interpretations of wills, sometimes by arbitrarily preferring one meaning over another, at other times by limiting or discouraging inquiry into the deceased's testamentary intentions. The reasons for preferring an objective interpretation over the meaning the testator intended the words to bear are no longer of sufficient weight to justify the continuation of literal and objective interpretation of wills. However, certain advantages are obtained from the use of the rules of construction which, to some, militate in favour of their retention.

As an adjunct to literal interpretation, the rules promote certainty of interpretation. A legal adviser may rely upon particular words to obtain a specific result. Consequently, it is said, they also facilitate accurate drafting and economy of expression.

When the testator fails to provide for events which occur, in many cases "the court is relieved from a purely impressionistic interpretation." The rules also promote the appearance of justice because an unsuccessful litigant:

... will at least have the consolation of knowing that his case has been adjudged by an objective standard, which has been applied in the past to others in a similar situation to his, and which will be so applicable to others in the future.

The Chief Justice's Law Reform Committee of Victoria considered whether to recommend the abolition of the rules of construction. They decided against abolition for the following reasons:

- 3.1 First, we would not be completely certain what the acceptance of such a proposal would entail. There are many rules of construction of wills; some are perhaps more compelling than others. It could prove a source of embarrassment if sweeping legislation were enacted abrogating rules of construction and it subsequently emerged that unforeseen difficulties arose out of the abolition of a hitherto significant rule of construction, the operation of which had not been specifically considered by the subcommittee.
- 3.2 But, more fundamentally, we believe that, fairly applied, the testamentary rules of construction are of great value ... We proffer the following reasons:
 - (a) Decision by rule is calculated to minimize costly and fruitless litigation and to provide draftsmen of wills with a measure of confidence as to the meanings which courts will ascribe to certain expressions. We consider that litigation would increase significantly if the rules of construction were abolished.
 - (b) A particular, recurring problem of construction often involves policy factors and strong probabilities of intention which coincide sufficiently to make one construction, in terms of the results it tends to produce, preferable to other permissible constructions.
 - (c) Criticism of the effect of particular rules should not be confused with a criticism of the usefulness of rules of construction generally.
 - (d) The rules of construction are especially useful in those recurring situations in which the cases are similar in language and context and where the testator apparently formed no actual intention. Perhaps it can be said that "The function of a rule of construction is to supply a result where no actual intention is discoverable": Halbach, "Stare Decisis and Rules of Construction in Wills And Trusts" (1964) 52 California Law Review 921, 932. See also Falkiner v. Commissioner of Stamp Duties [1973] A.C. 565 at 577.

We do not find these arguments totally convincing.

If a draftsman is aware of a particular rule, he may prepare the will in order to avoid the pitfalls it presents. However, the technical and sometimes obscure rules that may apply promote the possibility of error, not accuracy. Moreover, it would be unwise for a draftsman to rely upon a rule of construction because there is no guarantee that the courts will apply it. The cases demonstrate that the courts are adept at finding their way around awkward results required by the rules. And even if a draftsman does rely upon a

rule of construction, achieving some form of economy of expression, it is often at the cost of clear expression in contemporary language. If a testator directs his draftsman to make a gift to the legitimate children of A, is

anything gained because the draftsman can use the words "A's issue" knowing that the rule in *Sibley* v. *Perry* and the rule in favour of legitimacy should bring the courts to the intended construction?

When the testator fails to provide for events which occur, an arbitrary rule may or may not be useful. It is unlikely that an unsuccessful litigant, however, will derive much consolation from the knowledge that, in other cases, the courts are consistent in applying rules of construction to ambiguous words to reach an arbitrary interpretation rather than determining what meaning is appropriate in the circumstances. As Holdsworth observes:

No doubt in so acting the court did substantial justice in many cases. But there was a very considerable danger involved in pursuing this course, especially in a system which recognized the binding force of decided cases. Decisions as to the true construction of the ambiguous words of one testator were cited as authorities for putting a similar construction upon the ambiguous words of another testator; and, because the words were ambiguous and the expressions loose, this practice did more harm than when applied to documents which were formal and complete.

The argument that the rules "minimize costly and fruitless litigation" is also suspect. It is likely that the rules, if they do not promote litigation, tend to prolong it. If the courts are faced with an absurd meaning or result prescribed by a rule of construction, or a meaning contrary to the meaning the testator intended them to have, there is no certainty as to whether the courts will submit to the rule or find some way around it, for

example, by finding "clear" contrary intention, or by finding that the meaning required by the rule is opposed to the context in which the words are found, or by raising another rule of construction. The remarks of Lord Greene, M.R., with reference to the rule dictating the narrow meaning of "money," are applicable generally:

Indeed, one of the vices of a rule such as this is that it induces a tendency, which is often very attractive to the judicial mind, to endeavour by some very subtle and sometimes oversubtle distinctions, to construe a will in such a way as to get out of the rule.

The result is that litigation may not focus upon the true issue in dispute the meaning the testator intended his will to have but upon how an arbitrary meaning should be determined. In our opinion, seeking the actual meaning the testator intended his testamentary instructions to have should not increase litigation. Even if it does, this is a reasonable price to pay for giving effect to the deceased's testamentary intent.

The argument that rules of construction implement policy is equally misleading. In many cases, the policy being promoted is some centuries out of date. In light of modern attitudes toward common law marriages, this is certainly true of the presumption against favouring illegitimate children. It is also true, for

example, of some of the early vesting rules, which were designed in part to avoid the possibility of an abeyance of seisin, a concept which no longer figures in modern law. If the rules did change with the times, there might be some merit in the argument that they promote policy. As we have seen, the courts are reluctant to vary the rules to accord with changed policy and social attitudes. It was observed quite long ago that:

... the fixed and binding rules of construction which are applied in the construction of wills lead to manifest injustice. These rules are judgemade, and their history shows that they began as rational guides based on experience, but in time they have altered their character. As rational guides they may still be of value, although in certain instances the experience of the past is contradicted by the facts of present day life, but as rigid rules they can only lead to injustice.

We have concluded that the rules of construction should not be retained in their present form, but we are reluctant to recommend that they should be abolished. The likely consequences of such an action would not be beneficial. In many cases the testator will have formed no intention whatsoever concerning technical matters that will arise in any administration; for example, he will not have considered the vest-

ing of a gift to be a problem, nor have foreseen that difficulties may arise between life tenants and remaindermen. If the rules were to be abolished, a vacuum would ensue and the courts would have to set about creating rules of construction anew.

One alternative is to review the rules of construction individually in order to suggest specific reform. There are several reasons against pursuing this course. First, in time, as values and policies change, the law would become again much as we find it now, with the courts applying antiquated rules to arrive at objective interpretations. Second, the evil of the rules of construction is not that the meanings they prescribe are unreasonable, but that they are arbitrary. In our opinion, a rule of construction should never prevail over the meaning the testator intended his will to have, if that meaning is discoverable. The rules should function as "little more than ordered lists of examples" consulted only as a last resort.

F. Recommendation

We concluded in Chapter II that objective interpretation is not always appropriate for the construction of wills. The rules of construction are an aid to objective interpretation. If the courts are to give the testator's will the effect he intended it to have, the rules of construction can have no place in the inquiry, except perhaps as guides to correct interpretation. We agree with the Earl of Halsbury, L.C., when he said:

I confess I approach the interpretation of a will with the greatest possible hesitation as to adopting any supposed fixed rules for its construction. If I can read the language of the instrument in its ordinary and natural sense, I do not want any rule of construction; and if I cannot, why then I think one must read the whole instrument as well as one can, and conclude what really its effect is intended to be by looking at the instrument as a whole.

In our opinion, recommendation 2 will have the effect of displacing many of the rules of construction and of enabling the courts more easily to avoid inconvenient rules. To confirm the role that rules of construction should play in the interpretation of wills, we proposed in our Working Paper that:

The *Wills Act* be amended to provide that if the court is unable to elicit the testator's intent from his will or from relevant direct or indirect evidence, including evidence of the testator's dispositive intent, the court may have regard to the rules of construction, but should decline to apply them if they would, in all the circumstances, lead to an unreasonable result.

One of our correspondents thought there was no need for reform:

As to the rules of construction, I am puzzled by the fact that the Paper draws upon all such rules indiscriminately for its attack upon them. Rules concerned with presumption of meaning are cheekbyjowl with rules concerned with public policy, and no distinction of role or development is drawn. To me it seems inevitable that, as we move from the testators and judges of midnineteenth century England, so many the products of a classical education, and an Austinian tradition, to today's scene, there is bound to be a constant pattern of change in the concept of, and the approach to, the art of conveying meaning. I find this neither surprising nor disturbing. The courts today realise the change, and in my view they have shown that they fully see the need and the opportunity to allow outdated presumptions to fade into the past. After all a rule of construction always gives way to evidence so found of contrary intent, and no judgment binds later courts.

Our proposal was designed, in part, to codify the present (or developing) attitude towards the use of rules of construction observed by our correspondent. Another correspondent wrote:

I agree in principle with this recommendation. Indeed, as the Working Paper notes, there is already support for it in the cases: see also, in addition to the dictum cited on page 55, Lord Romer in *Perrin* v. *Morgan* [1943] A.C. 399, 421 (H.L.). Nonetheless it is probably wise to have some legislative provision to this effect.

Two repeated criticisms of this proposal were made:

1. Some attempt should te made to consider rules of construction on a rulebyrule basis.

2. Rules of construction which reflect policy decisions should be addressed directly.

With respect to the first point, the Commission's position in the Working Paper was that we were merely restating the current law. With respect to the second point, the rules unanimously identified for special consideration were those respecting common law spouses and illegitimate children. We have addressed those rules in our Working Paper on Statutory Succession Rights.

Another concern with the proposal was that the test of reasonableness could not be applied, since the only criterion of reasonableness should be the testator's intent, and that, by definition, is not discoverable if the courts are tempted to apply a rule of construction. One of our correspondents wrote:

... we feel that the language used results in reasoning that is somewhat circuitous. The final phrase referring to the rules of construction, "but should decline to apply them if they would, in all the circumstances, lead to an unreasonable result" should be deleted. If a court of law is unable to elicit the testator's true intent, then it is not in a position to determine whether application of such rules would lead to an unreasonable result. If the testator's dispositive intent cannot be ascertained, then regard should be had to the rules of construction.

Another observed:

The proposals deny a Court any assistance from the rules if the result would be unreasonable. Since the Court can only look to the rules in the first place if it cannot elicit intent, it appears that intent cannot be considered in determining what is reasonable. This is undesirable.

Our correspondents appeared to be concerned that the proposal contemplated measuring the reasonableness of a bequest by some subjective standard. It was thought that might encourage judges to remake wills in which no problems of interpretation arose, but which made directions that, to the judge, appeared to be unreasonable. That was not the Commission's position. An example posed by one of our correspondents demonstrates how the proposal should function.

We should also consider the situation where we can tell that the testator intended either result A or result B, but we can not tell which, and the rules of construction would direct result X. Perhaps, by objective standards, result X is not unreasonable. It only becomes unresonable when we know that the testator did not intend it.

We think it might be desirable if your recommendation No. 2 was broken down to cover these different cases and to be specific about whether the unreasonableness of the result is to be measured against the testator's intent or the court's objective standard (if it can be called that).

The proposal was designed to cope with the following problem: if the testator, in the circumstances, could only have intended result A or B, but the rule of construction directs result X, the rule should not be applied. For example, the testator leaves Z all "her money". That is the only gift he makes. Evidence reveals that the testator's estate consisted of money he was owed and bonds. The testator had very little cash. It would

appear that by "money" the testator meant the money he was owed, or the bonds, or both. "Money," however, has the primary meaning of cash. That meaning should be rejected, because it is unreasonable in the circumstances. The test of reasonableness with respect to the circumstances, was to let courts give effect to the gift as the testator must have intended, even though there is no evidence other than circumstantial evidence respecting that intent.

In the past few years the courts have been more consistent in using the rules as guides to the meaning testators attach to their wills, and not as objective standards to replace that inquiry, and there is every reason to suspect that, upon the enactment of recommendation 2, the courts' emerging use of the rules of construction for guidance only will continue. Nevertheless there appears to be considerable latitude for courts to apply a rule of construction without reference to the meaning the testator may have intended his will to have. Upon further consideration, the Commission remains convinced that it is desir-

able for legislation to provide that the rules of construction should not be used by the courts to arrive at an interpretation inconsistent with that intended by the testator.

The Commission recommends that:

3. Legislation should be enacted to confirm that a result flowing from an application of a rule of construction to words used in a will should not be preferred to a result flowing from the meaning the testator, when executing his will, attached to those words.

G. Statutory Rules of Construction

The *Wills Act* contains rules of construction in sections 16, 20(2), 21, 22, 23(1), 23(2), 24, 25, 26, 29(1), 29(2), 30, 31 and 32 of the *Wills Act*. The text of these sections is set out in Appendix A to this Report.

These sections were enacted to replace common law and equitable rules which quite clearly operated to defeat the intentions of most testators. Many of these statutory rules are borrowed directly from the English *Wills Act*, 1837. These include the rule that a will speaks from the testator's death, the rule that lapsed or void devises and bequests are included in a residuary devise or bequest and the rule that leaseholds are included in general devises.

All of these statutory rules of construction are subject to a contrary intention which appears by the will. Thus, extrinsic evidence of a testator's contrary intention would not alter the effect of a statutory rule. The proviso that the contrary intention must appear by the will originated in the *Wills Act*, 1837, at a time when extrinsic evidence was strictly curtailed, and was designed to reflect the law at that time. By the end of the

nineteenth century the harshness of the proviso that the contrary intention must appear by the will was being diminished. Although the contrary intention had to be found in the will, it need not have been express:

... it is not necessary that such contrary intention should be expressed in so many words, or in some way quite free from doubt; but it is to be gathered by adopting, in reference to the expression used by the testator, the ordinary rules of construction applicable to wills.

In the Working Paper we concluded that the proposals we made with regard to admissibility of extrinsic evidence and the effect of the rules of construction, should apply with equal force to these statutory rules of construction. We proposed that:

- 3 (a) The *Wills Act* be amended to provide that in sections 20(2), 21, 22, 23(1), 23(2), 24, 25, 26, 29(1), 29(2), 30, 31 and 32 contrary intent may be expressed or appear in or by the will, or be established by relevant direct or indirect evidence including evidence of the testator's dispositive intent.
 - (b) The *Wills Act* be amended to provide that if the court is unable to elicit the testator's intent from his will or from relevant direct or indirect evidence, including evidence of the testator's dispositive intent, the court may have regard to sections 20(2), 21, 22, 23(1), 23(2), 24, 25, 26, 29(1), 29(2), 30, 31 and 32 but should decline to apply them if they would, in all the circumstances, lead to an unreasonable result.

Some of our correspondents argued that many of these statutory rules are legislative statements of policy, and should not be placed on the same footing as common law and equitable rules of construction:

My difficulty with 3(b) is that it suggests a uniform treatment for sections which may require separate treatment. I am not sure, for example, that all of the sections referred to can be considered as replacing rules that quite clearly operated to defeat intent. But even if that can be the case, I think it may be wise to give separate consideration to each of the sections. Some, for example section 30, may relate to both intent and social policy. Section 32, as a guess about intention and as a reflection of what is fair, is arguably still worth retaining as an indication of *prima facie*

intent. On the other hand I have always had my doubts about how far section 29 operates for the benefit of the children of a deceased brother or sister. In sum, therefore, I would suggest that it would be wise for the Commission to analyze each of these sections separately before subjecting them to a blanket provision.

Some of our correspondents argued that these rules should be considered separately to determine whether the policy supporting those rules is still appropriate.

At the time we published the Working Paper we contemplated making such an examination of many of these rules in a subsequent project tentatively entitled "The Effect of Testamentary Instruments." We are persuaded that these rules should not be placed on the same level as common law and equitable rules of construction, and intend to examine the statutory rules on a rule by rule basis. We still believe, however, that if a contrary intention can be established by extrinsic evidence, then that should be sufficient to displace a statutory rule.

Re Hicknell, a recent decision of the Ontario High Court, is a case in point. The testator devised his house and its contents to his common law spouse. The house was subject to two mortgages. The other assets of the testator's estate included a life insurance policy. A year before his death, the testator had the policy changed so that payment of its proceeds would be made monthly for 25 years following his death. Extrinsic evidence indicated that the deceased intended the insurance policy to provide for the mortgage payments.

Section 32 of the Ontario Succession Law Reform Act, which is similar to section 31 of the British Columbia Wills Act, provides that real property subject to encumbrances, remains subject to those encumbrances unless a contrary intention is signified by will, deed or other document. No express contrary intention was contained in any documents, and, consequently, the insurance proceeds could not be used to make the mortgage payments. They devolved to other beneficiaries. We have concluded that if contrary intention can be discovered from extrinsic circumstances, that should be sufficient to rebut a statutory rule of construction.

The Commission recommends that:

4. Sections 20(2), 21, 22, 23(1), 23(2), 24, 25, 26, 29(1), 29(2), 30, 31 and 32 of the Wills Act be amended to provide that contrary intention may be established by the will or by other relevant evidence.

Section 16 of the *Wills Act* concerns the right of a separated or divorced spouse to take under the will of the deceased spouse. It too is subject to a contrary intention contained in a will. The section is less concerned with giving effect to the testator's intent than harmonizing the provisions of the *Family Relations Act* with succession law, by providing that a divorced or separated spouse may not take under the will of the deceased spouse. There will be many cases where the deceased intended to benefit his former spouse by will. For example, it is not uncommon for the spouses to include in a separation agreement that the will of one spouse will continue to benefit the other. This is certainly a contrary intention, but it is not contained in the will, and notwithstanding the agreement between the spouses, the gift to the surviving spouse will be revoked. In our Working Paper entitled "Statutory Succession Rights," we have considered the interrelation of succession law with spousal rights, and our proposals with respect to section 16 re contained in that Working Paper.

CHAPTER IV RECTIFICATION

A. Conflict Between the Testator's Intent and the Words Used in the Will

As we have observed, if the words used by the testator do not accurately reflect his intended meaning, various problems of construction may arise. Our recommendation to make a broad range of

evidence admissible on an application for construction should significantly ease a judge's task in discovering and giving effect to the testator's intent. However, when attempting to give effect to the testator's intent, judges are faced with a further problem. Because courts are required to give effect to the words used by the testator, they possess very limited powers to give effect to the intent of the testator when the words he has used convey a meaning opposed to that intent. This problem may arise when the testator has misdescribed the subject of the gift or its donee, or when he fails to provide for a contingency which occurs. Often the problem arises when the testator, or his draftsman, makes a mistake, and the words used in the will are not those which he intended to use.

B. Powers of the Court to Rectify a Will

Words may be included in, or omitted from, a will in error. When this occurs in other legal instruments such as deeds or contracts, the document may be rectified so that it embodies the actual provisions intended by the parties to it. Courts have no power to rectify a will, except in a very limited sense. As a general rule, the court must take the will as it finds it.

When exercising its jurisdiction to determine the validity of a will, a Court of Probate may delete from a will words mistakenly included, unless the mistake has been approved by the testator. The Court of Probate may not, however, add or vary words in order to rectify a mistake.

In the absence of fraud, a Court of Construction has no power to rectify a will. It does, however, possess two powers which resemble rectification. A Court of Construction may reject an inessential, inaccurate part of a description (the principle of *falsa demonstratio*). It may also supply, vary, transpose or reject words in order to give effect to the testator's expressed intention, provided the correct words can be determined from reading the will. This is known as correcting errors and omissions in a will by implication

C. Why Doesn't the Court of Construction Possess a Power to Rectify?

Two reasons are usually given to justify the lack of a jurisdiction to rectify wills. The first is that a power to rectify would subvert the formalities required by the *Wills Act* to make a will. The power of the Court of Probate to delete words included by mistake does not violate the spirit of the *Wills Act*. The formalities are designed to ensure that the will, in the form intended by the testator, is admitted to probate. It follows that anything included by mistake was not intended to form part of the will and, therefore, may be deleted.

The Court of Construction has no power to delete words included by mistake because it must accept the decision of the Court of Probate upon the validity of the will. Any power to add words, it is argued, would amount to remaking the testator's will and violate the spirit of the *Wills Act* and the need for formalities. However, other legal instruments which must be formally executed may be rectified. In Chapter II we discussed the need for formalities of execution, and concluded that they should not stand in the way of discovering and giving effect to the deceased's actual testamentary intentions. Neither should they prevent rectification. We can add nothing useful here to our earlier discussion.

The second reason often given against a power to rectify is that there is no reliable guide to what the testator intended to say. In *Re Harris*, Middleton, J.A. rejected an application for rectification saying:

I cannot supply the words intended to be used by the testator, as I don't know what he intended...His intention has perished with him ...

At a time when the courts were reluctant to consider extrinsic aids to discover the meaning the testator attached to his will, perhaps this statement was supportable. However, the growing tendency of the courts

to place themselves in the testator's armchair and to consider the surrounding circumstances in order to discover the

testator's intention renders this argument less forceful. Quite often the testator's intention has not perished with him, but can be gathered from the whole of the will, by reference to extrinsic circumstances, or from evidence of his intent.

Our earlier recommendations are intended to enhance the courts' ability to discover the meaning the testator intended the words in his will to bear. If the courts are faced with words included by mistake then, in the absence of a power to alter the testator's will, the courts must decline to give effect to the testator's wishes.

There are many examples of the absurd lengths to which the courts must go, lacking a true power to rectify, to give effect to some semblance of the testator's intention. In *Re Morris* the testatrix amended her will by codicil. Her intention had been to revoke a gift contained in clause 7(iv) of her will, but in error she revoked all of the gifts contained in clause 7. The Court of Probate could not rectify the will. Instead it deleted the numeral "7" on the ground that it was surplusage, thus saving all of the gifts, including the one the testator intended to revoke.

In *Re ReynetteJames, dec'd*. the draftsman, revising a will as directed by the testatrix, mistakenly deleted a gift to the son of the testatrix of capital in the residue of a life estate. As a result, the will directed that the gift would go to other beneficiaries who were only intended to take in the event the son died before the life estate terminated. The Court of Probate, unable to add the gift to the son, deleted the gift over, so that

the residue of the estate would pass to the son absolutely on an intestacy.

In other cases the courts are unable to even approximate the testator's intent. In *Harter* v. *Harter*, the testator's solicitor prepared a will containing a residuary clause which referred only to the disposition of real estate. The court refused to admit the solicitor's evidence that the testator had instructed him to prepare a gift of all of the residue of the estate. There was an intestacy as to the residuary personal estate. Similarly,

in the nonprobate case of *Marchuk* v. *Marchuk*, the testator directed a notary public to include in his will a gift of his real estate and effects to be divided among his twelve children. The notary public mistakenly confined the gift to personal estate. The Court of Construction refused to hear the evidence of the notary public, and the bulk of the testator's estate, which consisted of real property, passed under a general residuary gift.

It is clear that restricting the jurisdiction of a court to rectify a will may mean that in some cases effect will not be given to the testator's wishes, and that this can lead to injustice. This is particularly so when the error is the result of a mistake committed by a professional adviser. The results achieved by the current law suggest that judges might usefully be given the power, in appropriate cases, to rectify the provisions of a will.

D. Correcting Errors and Omissions in a Will by Implication

1. Generally

We mentioned earlier that the Court of Construction possesses a limited power to correct errors or omissions in a will by implication. This power has been defined as follows:

The rule as so expressed has two limbs. The first is that the court must be satisfied that there has been an inaccurate expression by the testator of his intention, and the second is that it must be clear what words the testator had in mind at the time when he made the apparent error which appears in his will. Unless one can be reasonably certain from the context of the will itself what are the words which have been omitted, then one cannot apply the principle at all, and one has to take the language as one finds it.

If an error or mistake is discoverable only by considering extrinsic evidence, then the courts are powerless to correct it. In *Re Follet*, the testator gave A a general power of appointment. It was apparent upon the face of the will that mistakes had been made in drafting the general power of appointment. Roxborough, J., compared the provision with a common precedent from which it appeared to have been taken, and supplied the missing words. On appeal the decision was reversed. The omitted words could not be supplied because they could not be determined from reading the will alone.

2. Why the Power is Limited

The reasons which militate against a power to rectify apply equally against a power to correct a will by implying words. The jurisdiction to imply words to perfect a gift follows from the rule of construction that the court is to gather the intention of the testator from the words he has used. To go further and imply words to give effect to testamentary intent gathered from a consideration of extrinsic aids would be a departure from objective interpretation. Consequently, the power is limited and reluctantly used. A rather startling example of this reluctance is the case of *Ralph* v. *Carrick*, decided in 1879. The testator made a gift to his heiratlaw and others to take effect upon the death of his wife, but neglected to provide for his wife. The court refused to imply a life estate in the wife. Brett, L.J. said:

It sometimes amuses me when we are asked to say what was the actual intention of a foolish, thoughtless, and inaccurate testator. That is not what the Court has to determine: all the Court can do is to construe, according to settled rules, the terms of a will, just as it construes the terms of any other written document. This is obviously the will of a foolish, thoughtless, and inaccurate man. If he really intended his wife to have an estate for her life, what was more easy than for him to say so?

The judicial attitude reflected in Ralph v. Carrick is representative of that which prevailed during the high water mark of objective interpretation. Judges today are considerably more sensitive to the problems which can arise from the interpretation of wills.

3. The Principle in Practice

A review of the cases reveals that it is extremely difficult to predict when a court will exercise its power to correct errors and omissions by implication. A recurring problem is the testator who makes provisions for his wife surviving him or dying simultaneously, but fails to make any direction should his wife predecease him. In *McLean* v. *Henning*, the Supreme Court of Canada declined to imply a gift to the beneficiary who would have taken had the deaths of the testator and of his wife coincided. The case of *Re Craig*, is to similar effect. McKinnon, J.A., said:

A Court should only tamper with and add to the words of a will, particularly one drafted by a solicitor, where it is perfectly clear that the testator has not accurately, or completely expressed his intention. In other words, a case which is almost beyond argument.

However, in *Re Smith*, *Re Whitrick*, *Re Harmer*, and *Hawkinson* v. *Hawkinson*, the courts were prepared to imply such a gift. In *ReWhitrick* the court was moved by the following argument:

I cannot believe that the testatrix and her husband, in his turn, were both of them so playful, cynical or eccentric that they decided ... to leave part of their estate to their relatives or friends only in the most highly improbable event of their both dying at the same time.

This problem of interpretation arose in a recent British Columbia case, *Re Hansen*. The testatrix provided for certain dispositions of her estate if her death and her husband's were "similtaneous" (sic). Because the testatrix had misspelled "simultaneous," the court held that it was a word not capable of definition and deleted it from the will as *falsa demonstratio*. That is an example of the courts using principles of objective construction to come to an interpretation that probably corresponded with the meaning the testatrix intended her will to have. The court then went on to hold that even if "similtaneous" meant "at

the same time," the testatrix's intention was to provide for the disposition of her estate if her husband was unable to enjoy it, notwithstanding that her husband's death occurred some time before hers. That is an example of the courts using liberal principles of interpretation, so that the strict meaning of the words used does not stand in the way of the interpretation the testatrix intended them to have.

Another recurring problem is the testator who provides for a gift over if A dies without issue, but neglects to direct what is to occur if A dies leaving issue. In *Scale* v. *Rawlins*, *Greene* v. *Ward*, *Addison* v. *Busk* and *Sparks* v. *Restal*, the court refused to imply a gift to issue. In *Greene* v. *Ward* it was said:

Neither can we, from these words, imply a gift to the issue of George Greene. If a sum of money is bequeathed to A.B. for life, and, if he dies leaving no issue, then to another, that does not raise any implication in favour of the issue of A.B., though, if he dies leaving issue, the gift over does not take effect.

As a result, neither the remainderman nor the issue of the life tenant will take, and the courts choose the least probable alternative as the intention of the testator. The gift lapses.

In contrast to these decisions can be placed other more recent cases where, upon similar facts, the courts were prepared to imply a gift to issue, such as *Re Coppley*, *Re Brown* and *Re MacDonald*.

4. When Words May be Implied

The power to imply words or gifts was at one time exercised only when the courts were convinced that a rule of construction had developed. In Ralph v. Carrick, mentioned earlier, it was said:

Is there any rule established by the authorities as applicable to a gift to the heiratlaw and another person jointly after the death of A. I am of opinion that none of the cases establish any rule of construction applicable to such a case. Although cases have been cited in which, in a gift to an heiratlaw and others after the death of A, a life estate to A has been implied, none of the judges have laid down that there is a general rule of construction which, unaided by anything else in the will, will raise the implication from a devise in these terms.

In a recent case, *Re Dinn*, the court was called upon to construe a gift to "grandnephews and nieces." Rather than inquire whether the testator meant by this "grandnephews and grandnieces," the court relied upon an American rule of construction that:

... a devise or bequest to 'grandnieces or nephews' will be construed as the intention of the testator to have the word 'grand' modify both the words 'nieces and nephews' so as to include both grandnieces and grandnephews.

The English rule of construction would have dictated that the gift go to nieces and grandnephews only.

The power to imply words, however, is generally regarded as a more flexible aid to interpretation than are the rules of construction. The nature of the power was more accurately described by Harman, J., in Re Birkin:

... I conceive that, as a matter of construction, I am entitled to read the words rather as they should be than as they are, not in order to make a new will for the testator, but to make his will as I think he intended it, although for some reason some words have dropped out.

When the power may be exercised is open to some doubt. The standard of conviction necessary to imply a gift has been expressed in a number of ways. It has been said that

To read into this will the words necessary to provide for the unmentioned event the Court must be compelled to the conclusion that the will reveals so strong a probability of such an intention that a contrary intention cannot be supposed.

Exercise of the power has been described as justified only "as a matter of necessity," although it has also been said:

There is hardly any case where an implication is of necessity, but it is called 'necessary,' because the courts find it so to answer the 'intention of the devisor.'

It has been referred to as an "irresistable inference" in some cases and, in others, only as a "reasonable inference." At times the courts require reasons for the occurrence of the error or omission and, at other times, they expressly refuse to consider why it has occurred.

5. Implying Words in the Light of Extrinsic Evidence

The strict rule is that words may only be implied to correct a will, if they can be determined from the face of the will alone. Nevertheless there are cases where the courts have gone further than the strict rule and corrected wills based upon a consideration of extrinsic evidence.

For example, the courts were unwilling to correct the legal description of misdescribed property in a testamentary gift in *Re Cargill* and in *Re Clement*. In *Re Cargill*, Goodman, J., said:

I may say that if I were not faced with the earlier decisions of Judges of this court and bound by the decisions of Courts of superior jurisdiction, which I have cited above, I would have been inclined to have considered not only the contents of the will, but also all of the extrinsic evidence indicating surrounding circumstances in order to ascertain the intention of the testator. In my view, the extrinsic evidence supports the conclusion that the testator intended that Parcel 1 be devised to his brother ... Addy J., in *Re Butchers* has commented upon the dangers of considering extrinsic evidence, a danger which our Courts have recognized for many years. It is only in exceptional circumstances that such evidence may be considered and, even though the failure to do so may, in some cases, lead to a result which does not accord with the apparent intention of the testator as disclosed by the extrinsic evidence, the rule cannot be relaxed for that only.

But in *Re Shaver*, *Hickey* v. *Hickey Re Harkin* and *Re McPhee*, the description was corrected by implication. These errors could only be detected, and corrected, by referring to extrinsic evidence.

Hawkinson v. *Hawkinson*, a British Columbia decision, concerned a will which failed to provide for the event which occurred. Macdonald, L.J.S.C. implied the necessary words, saying:

On a careful examination of both wills, and the material filed by the petitioner, it appears to be patent that the testator intended to make an absolute gift of his entire estate to the petitioner. The paragraph corresponding to paragraph 3 in the petitioner's will was not inserted in the will and was not noticed by the solicitor, his stenographer or by the testator.

Macdonald, L.J.S.C., therefore, implied a gift based upon a consideration of extrinsic evidence. Similarly, one can point to the many cases where a husband and wife have prepared mutual wills, and accidentally signed the will of the other. The courts have corrected these errors, again something which could only be done by considering extrinsic evidence.

In Olson v. Wasyliwna, the testator left his residuary estate to "my four sisters" or the survivor of them. He was survived by two sisters, a stepsister, and the daughters of a deceased sister. Strict construction would dictate that the gift be shared by the two surviving sisters, or, perhaps, the two sisters and the stepsister. The court heard evidence from the notary who prepared the will, and compared the provisions of a previous will, and concluded that the testator intended to benefit his five female relatives. In Re McDermot and Owens, a Manitoba case, however, the testator's will referred to equal division of the residue of his estate among named persons, but the amounts bequeathed were unequal. The court refused to refer to earlier drafts of the will, in order to determine whether a mistake had occurred, although the conflict between directions indicated some sort of error had been made. The court held that the specific distribution provisions overrode the general reference to equal division.

In those cases where the courts have ignored the restrictions on their powers to correct wills, they have achieved just results. Unless the law in this context is clarified, inconsistent results will continue to occur.

E. Reform

The jurisdiction to correct a testator's will may be narrowly or broadly defined. It may consist of rectification in a literal sense: the power to correct a mistake made by the testator or draftsman, involving the deletion of words included, or the addition of words left out, in error.Or it may be of a broader nature, allowing the courts to vary words to accord with the testator's intent discoverable by reference to extrinsic evidence even though it cannot be said that there was an actual mistake.

1. Traditional Doctrine of Rectification

The English Law Reform Committee has recommended that a court should enjoy a power to rectify which, on compelling evidence, would allow it to add, delete or vary words so that the will to be construed is first placed in the form intended by the testator. This jurisdiction would extend only to correcting clerical error, or mistakes in drafting resulting from misunderstood instructions. The courts would still be powerless to correct errors arising from failure to appreciate the effect of words, uncertainty or lack of intention. The English Law Reform Committee said:

... we merely emphasise that the court should be able to give effect to the substance of the language intended by the testator. The dividing line between "language" and "meaning" may sometimes be hard to draw, but it has long been settled that the doctrine of rectification is confined to altering the language used by the instrument.

It was also recommended that there should be no restriction on the kinds of evidence admissible to support rectification. The real issue, they said, was the weight to be given to adduced evidence. This jurisdiction could be exercised notwithstanding that the testator had approved his will, but would be subject to a six month limitation calculated from the testator's death.

Under the present law the court has no power to make any variation in a will if its contents have been approved by the testator. Mere execution of a will may not constitute "approval" unless the testator has first read the will or had it read to him. The concept of "approval" is unsatisfactory. If it can be established that the testator or his draftsman has made a mistake, then the testator's "approval" is made by mistake as well, and should have no effect.

The provision for a six month limitation on applications was recommended by the English Law Reform Committee in order to protect executors from liability for acting based upon the terms of a will that is subsequently rectified. They said:

In order to give reasonable security to executors and beneficiaries to exclude stale claims, we consider that it would be desirable to impose a time limit on applications for the rectification of a will admitted to probate ... and we therefore recommend that the power of rectification that we propose should not be exercisable without the leave of the court unless an application is made not later than six months after the date on which representation is first granted.

The power to rectify recommended by the Law Reform Committee is framed in terms of the traditional doctrine of rectification as it applies to other documents. It is designed to place the will in the form intended by the testator, and then the words he has used or intended to use would be interpreted to determine what they mean. It cannot be denied that this power would resolve many specific problems which do arise from time to

time. However, in the Working Paper we concluded that this power would not go far enough. It would not remedy those problems which arise where the words used were intended by the testator, but are clearly insufficient to support the meaning he attached to them; nor would it assist the court to give effect to a gift when the event which occurs is not provided for in the will. Essentially, rectification is designed to facilitate objective interpretation.

The Law Reform Commission of Queensland considered whether to recommend a court power to rectify wills. They rejected the proposals of the English Law Reform Committee, saying:

Although we see much in favour of this recommendation we are hesitant to embark on what would be completely uncharted waters. In exercising the jurisdiction to rectify deeds the court often has the evidence of all parties to the deed before it; in rectifying a will it would never have the evidence of the testator himself. Further, there is a great deal to be said for the retention of the strict formal requirements for making of wills which have been accepted for over a hundred years in most English and many American jurisdictions and which are fairly well understood and often acted upon by laymen. If a generous invitation were to be extended to wouldbe rectifiers of wills, it might be interpreted as a serious inroad on what is recognised to be an effective and justifiable requirement for the protection of testators. It is in any case undesirable to offer much scope for litigation in an area where family passions regrettably all too often override reasonable expectations.

They also argued that many of the injustices which result from the absence of a power to rectify would be remedied by dependent's relief legislation similar to the British Columbia *Wills Variation Act* to provide maintenance to the testator's family.

The Queensland Commission recommended that the Court of Probate should be able to:

... exercise the same jurisdiction with respect to the insertion of material accidentally or inadvertently omitted from a will as it has at present to omit material which has been accidentally or inadvertently inserted in a will.

We are not persuaded that this proposal is satisfactory. The limited power proposed by the Queensland Law Reform Commission will remedy some but not all of the present failings of the law. In our opinion, it is not satisfactory to rely upon dependant's relief legislation to provide for beneficiaries the testator intended to benefit by will. As we noted earlier, the class of beneficiaries entitled to apply in British Columbia under the *Wills Variation Act*, is limited and, therefore, this route will not be available to every beneficiary who is prejudiced by the court's inability to give effect to the testator's discoverable intent. Moreover, dependant's relief legislation is not designed to give effect to the testator's intent. As we mentioned in Chapter II, the exercise of the court's discretion will often defeat the testator's intent.

2. Correcting a Will by Implication

In the Working Paper, we tentatively concluded that jurisdiction to correct a will should not be patterned after the traditional doctrine of rectification, which aims at placing the legal document in the form intended by its maker, and then construing that amended document. We observed that the Court of Construction enjoys a limited power to correct a will, in furtherance of its interpretation, if it is clear from the will what the testator meant, although his intentions were not recorded accurately. The Commission tentatively concluded that that jurisdiction, exercised in the light of evidence of extrinsic circumstances and of the testator's intentions, satisfactorily answered problems that might arise from mistakes in wills. We proposed that:

4. The Wills Act be amended to provide that the court shall give effect to the intent of the testator expressed in his will, but where the court, when interpreting a will, is satisfied that the intent of the testator is not expressed in the will, the court may vary, add or delete words in the will, notwithstanding that the will may have been read by or to the testator prior to execution.

There is a substantial distinction between the English Law Reform Committee recommendation to permit rectification of wills, and a broader power to correct wills by implying words in the light of extrinsic evidence. The English Law Reform Committee recommendation is designed to allow the Court of Probate to catch and correct mistakes arising from clerical error or misunderstood instructions, thus placing the will in the form intended by the testator. Only then would it be interpreted by the Court of Construction which would not be able to further rectify the will except for the limited power under the present law to supply words by implication.

A broader power to correct wills by implying words in the light of extrinsic evidence, on the other hand, would operate as an adjunct to the powers exercised by the Court of Construction. It would catch those problems arising from clerical error, as well as many other drafting defects which tend to frustrate the testator's

intention. The court which must interpret and give effect to the will would exercise the power to correct it.

In the Working Paper we tentatively concluded that a power to correct a will by implication in the light of extrinsic evidence should generally be exercised by the Supreme Court of British Columbia when sitting as a Court of Construction. A Court of Probate might be called upon to interpret a will before it a grants probate. One common example is when the Court of Probate must determine whether the will was made in contemplation of marriage. In those cases, we thought that the Court of Probate should possess a power to correct a will by implication. We were concerned, however, that this might lead to issue estoppel and prevent the court from subsequently interpreting a will at a time when all parties could be heard and the court could conduct a complete examination of the circumstances.

F. Comment

Many of our correspondents were concerned that the proposal would go too far, making the language of a will something of a side issue. While a need for a limited power to rectify was acknowledged, it was felt that a broad power, although desirable in some circumstances, in too many cases would permit the courts a

flexibility undesirable in interpreting legal instruments. The occasional problems that arise where it would be desirable to have a broad power to correct a will by implication in the light of extrinsic evidence did not warrant granting courts unstructured and intuitive powers to interpret.

After publication of the Working Paper, the *Administration of Justice Bill, 1981*, referred to earlier, was introduced in the House of Lords in England. In that Bill, action was taken on many of the recommendations of the English Law Reform Committee respecting Interpretation of Wills. Section 20 of that Bill dealt with rectification of wills:

- 20. (1) If a court is satisfied that a will is so expressed that it fails to carry out the testator's intentions, in consequence -
 - (a) of a clerical error; or
 - (b) of a failure to understand his instructions, it may order that the will shall be rectified so as to carry out his intentions.
 - (2) An application for an order under this section shall not, except with the permission of the court, be made after the end of the period of six months from the date on which representation with respect to the estate of the deceased is first taken out.
 - (3) The provision of this section shall not render the personal representatives of a deceased person liable for having distributed any part of the estate of the deceased, after the end of the period of six months from the date on which representation with respect to the estate of the deceased is first taken out, on the ground that they ought to have taken into account the possibility that the court might permit the making of an application for an order under this section after the end of that period; but this subsection shall not prejudice any power to recover, by reason of the making of an order under this section, any part of the estate so distributed.
 - (4) In considering for the purposes of this section when representation with respect to the estate of a deceased person was first taken out, a grant limited to settled land or to trust property shall be left out of account, and a grant limited to real estate or to personal estate shall be left out of account unless a grant limited to the remainder of the estate has previously been made or is made at the same time.

The approach taken in this Bill is to provide a power to rectify in circumstances where the solicitor's draftsman has mistakenly recorded the testator's instructions.

Although we have been convinced that our original proposal was too broad, we think the English approach too narrow. If a power to rectify is to be tied to proof of a mistake, we still think the courts should have power to correct a mistake when the testator acts as his own draftsman. In all likelihood, more mistakes will occur in homemade wills than in professionally drafted wills. To that end, in addition to the two sources of error listed in section 20(1) of the English legislation, we think an additional clause should be added: a failure by the testator to appreciate the effect of the words used. We have also concluded that a provision which permits the courts to rectify a will should also recognize that errors can arise when the testator's draftsman understands but fails to carry out the testator's instructions. A mistake by the draftsman will not necessarily be the result of clerical error. An additional clause to that effect should also be added. Moreover, rather than use the narrow term "clerical error" we think the clause "an error arising from an accidental slip or omission" should be used. This is patterned after Rule 42(23) of the British Columbia Supreme Court Rules, the "slip rule," which empowers the courts to correct errors made in pleadings. This formulation is broader than a "clerical error" and avoids problems that may arise in establishing how an error arose. Moreover, there is useful case law on the ambit of Rule 42(23) which will help the courts when using this power to rectify a will.

With respect to a time limit on applications, we remain convinced that a power to rectify is an adjunct to interpretation. Consequently, our tentative conclusion is that there is no need for a time limit on applications to rectify. The courts should be able to rectify a mistake made in a will whenever an application for interpretation may be brought. In any event, this is a question we intend to examine in a subsequent project on probate practice and procedure.

Neither will the deceased's personal representative, under this approach, be subjected to greater risk than under the current law. A court is unlikely to find a personal representative in breach for distributing pursuant to a will that is subsequently rectified. Nor should that prevent a beneficiary entitled to share in the estate from tracing assets into the hands of recipients who should not have been benefitted. While it is our tentative conclusion that there is no need to address these matters in legislation, it is our intention to further examine these issues in a subsequent project on probate practice and procedure.

We have also concluded that both the Court of Probate and the Court of Construction should be able to exercise this jurisdiction to correct a will. As we mentioned earlier, in some instances a Court of Probate must interpret the will, for example, to determine whether it was made in contemplation of marriage. However, the Court of Probate should be reluctant to exercise this jurisdiction, particularly if all interested parties are not before it. There is a significant distinction between the functions of the Court of Probate and the Court of Construction. The Court of Probate, when determining whether a will is valid, must satisfy itself that it contains the language the testator intended to use. The Court of Construction's function is to determine what intention is expressed by those words. This distinction between the function of the Court of Probate and that of the Court of Construction will dictate when it is appropriate for one court or the other to hear an application for rectification. Although this approach may not be totally satisfactory, we think these questions can be safely

left to the courts. As we mentioned, we intend to examine the divided jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of British Columbia in a subsequent project on probate procedure. For the time being, we can see no justification for further differentiation between the jurisdiction to be exercised by the court, depending on whether it sits as a Court of Probate or as a Court of Construction.

The Commission recommends that:

- 5. (a) Legislation should be enacted to provide that if a court is satisfied that a will is so expressed that it fails to carry out the testator's intentions, in consequence of
 - (i) an error arising from an accidental slip or omission;
 - (ii) a misunderstanding of the testator's instructions;

- (iii) a failure to carry out the testator's instructions; or
- (iv) a failure by the testator to appreciate the effect of the words used; it may order that the will be rectified.
- (b) For the purposes of rectification, the court may admit all relevant evidence including statements made by the testator or other evidence of his intent.

In Recommendation 5, the word "satisfied" is used to define the burden of proof which must be met before a court will rectify a will. The burden of proof which must be met, of course, is the usual civil standard, the balance of probabilities. Some members of the Commission were concerned that this was too low a standard to set. They felt that the courts should not rectify a will unless there is clear and compelling evidence demonstrating both that there is a mistake, and what must be done to correct it. It is the conclusion of the Commission, however, that it is undesirable to define new standards of proof to be met, which exist somewhere between the balance of probabilities and beyond a reasonable doubt. Since the weighing of evidence is not a precise science, defining new standards of proof would be unproductive. The kinds of evidence which will satisfy a court that a will should be rectified, will vary depending on the circumstances. To upset clear words, the evidence of mistake must necessarily be compelling. On the other hand, if language is obviously garbled,

evidence sufficient to satisfy a court that the will should be rectified, need not necessarily be overwhelming. The courts approach rectification of other legal instruments cautiously. They should be no less cautious when considering an application to rectify a will.

CHAPTER V CONCLUSION

A. General

We have explored the origins and historical reasons for the rules which govern the interpretation of wills. Many of the historical reasons for circumscribing the powers of the court to interpret a will are no longer valid. Further, wills possess many features which make them unique and justify treating them differently from other legal instruments. For these reasons we have made recommendations to reform the rules which govern the interpretation of wills.

These recommendations are aimed at interpreting wills, which are legal instruments which take effect upon their maker's death. We have neither made recommendations nor fully discussed the rules which govern the interpretation of an instrument which takes effect during its maker's lifetime, but which must be interpreted after his death. In many cases such instruments may function almost identically to wills. For example, a person may make an *inter vivos* trust settlement such as "my house to A in trust, for the use of B during his lifetime, and then for the use of C." Trust settlements like this may raise problems of interpretation similar to those encountered in the construction of wills. Is there any reason for using different principles of construction

to interpret two identical provisions merely because in one case it is contained in a document which takes effect during the lifetime of its maker, and in the other case it is contained in a will?

Inter vivos settlements differ from wills in one respect. An *inter vivos* settlement may be subject to court interpretation during the settlor's lifetime. Problems of evidence different from those encountered in the construction of wills arise. For example, the settlor may apply for rectification of the *inter vivos* settlement. However, while the settlor may give evidence concerning what effect the settlement was to have, his evidence

will be carefully scrutinized:

If it is explicit enough and is uncontradicted, the evidence of a settlor may suffice for the rectification of a settlement, and even a mere perusal of the document itself may satisfy the court. Nevertheless, in the case of a voluntary settlement the court is especially cautious in granting rectification merely on the settlor's evidence if it is unsupported by

other evidence such as his contemporaneous written instructions. This is so even if on rectification the settlement would more nearly accord with recognised precedents and the probable intention, and be more beneficial to the settlor.

It is arguable that the fact that the settlor of the trust settlement is still alive when the terms of the trust settlement are interpreted significantly distinguishes the problems which may arise when interpreting an *inter vivos* transaction from those encountered by a court when interpreting a will. At least to this extent there is some justification for employing principles of interpretation which differ depending on whether the courts are

interpreting an *inter vivos* trust settlement or a will.

However, if the settlor is dead when it becomes necessary to interpret an *inter vivos* settlement, is there any factor which distinguishes the problems of interpretation which arise from those encountered in the construction of a will? We suspect that there is no appreciable difference between an *inter vivos* settlement, the ambiguous terms of which do not take effect until after the settlor's death, and a will. It is difficult, therefore, to justify employing different principles of construction to these two kinds of instruments.

While we recognize that there are good reasons for extending our recommendations to legal instruments other than wills, at least to the extent that those legal instruments take effect after their makers' deaths, we are not certain whether problems are actually encountered by the courts in giving effect to these instruments. The fact that such instruments are capable of giving rise to problems of interpretation similar to those raised by wills does not mean that they actually do give rise to these problems. It may be, for example, that most *inter vivos* settlements are professionally drawn.

In the Working Paper we invited comment on whether it would be desirable to extend our proposals respecting interpretation of wills to other kinds of legal instruments. There was agreement that similar principles of interpretation should extend to all legal instruments. Nevertheless, the general conclusion was that, before extending recommendations for reform of the rules pertaining to the interpretation of wills to other legal instruments, it would be wise to wait and see how the courts handled the revised approach to interpretation. The Commission agrees with that position.

B. Summary of Recommendations

The Commission recommends that:

- 1. Legislation should be enacted to confirm that the courts' primary function when construing a will is to give effect to the testamentary directions contained in the will.
- 2. Legislation should be enacted to provide that relevant evidence, including statements made by the testator or other evidence of his intent, is admissible to determine the meaning the testator, when executing his will, attached to the words used therein.
- 3. Legislation should be enacted to confirm that a result flowing from an application of a rule of construction to words used in a will should not be preferred to a result flowing from the meaning the testator, when executing his will, attached to those words.
- 4. Sections 20(2), 21, 22, 23(1), 23(2), 24, 25, 26, 29(1), 29(2), 30, 31 and 32 of the Wills Act be amended to provide that contrary intention may be established by the will or by other relevant evidence.
- 5. (a) Legislation should be enacted to provide that if a court is satisfied that a will is so expressed that it fails to carry out the testator's intentions, in consequence of

- (i) an error arising from an accidental slip or omission;
- (ii) a misunderstanding of the testator's instructions;
- (iii) a failure to carry out the testator's instructions; or
- (iv) a failure by the testator to appreciate the effect of the words used; it may order that the will be rectified.
- (b) For the purposes of rectification, the court may admit all relevant evidence including statements made by the testator or other evidence of his intent.

C. Acknowledgments

The volume and quality of response attracted by a Working Paper is often an unpredictable matter. Given a topic that many would regard as unglamourous, the Working Paper which preceded this Report drew a surprising number of cogent and helpful comments. A number of the individuals who wrote to us also met with Commission representatives at meetings held both in Vancouver and Victoria. We wish to thank all those who took the time to consider the Working Paper and the issues which it raised and who wrote to us expressing their views or otherwise participated in the consultation process.

There are three individuals to whom we are particularly indebted. First is Mr. Jack ScottHarston, Q.C., who acted as a consultant on this project and gave us the benefit of his many years of experience.

Second is Mr. Peter Fraser, a former member of the Law Reform Commission. Mr. Fraser participated in the development of the Working Paper and in the deliberations on our final recommendations. His term as a Commissioner expired only shortly before the contents of this Report were settled.

Finally, we wish to express our gratitude to Mr. Thomas G. Anderson, Assistant Counsel to the Commission. He bore the responsibility for the basic research in this area and, subject to direction from the Commission, drafted the Working Paper and this Report. His mastery of this littleunderstood area of the law has been of invaluable assistance.

JOHN S. AIKINS

KENNETH C. MACKENZIE

BRYAN WILLIAMS

ANTHONY F. SHEPPARD

ARTHUR L. CLOSE

November 19, 1982.

APPENDICES

Appendix A

The following sections of the Wills Act are subject to contrary intention appearing in or by the will.

Revocation of gift on dissolution

16. (1) Where a will a testator

gives an interest in property to his spouse; appoints his spouse executor or trustee; or confers a general or special power of appointment on his spouse,

And after the making of the will and before his death

a judicial separation has been ordered in respect of his marriage; his marriage is terminated by a decree absolute of divorce; or his marriage is found to be void or declared a nullity by a court then, unless a contrary intention appears in the will, the gift, appointment or power is revoked and the will takes effect as if the spouse had predeceased the testator.

(2) In subsection (1) "spouse" includes a person considered by the testator to be his spouse.

1979-2-63; RS1979-434-47, proclaimed effective August 1, 1981.

Effective time of will

- 20. (1) When a will has been revived or re-executed by a codicil, the will is deemed to have been made at the time at which it was revived or re-executed.
 - (2) Except when a contrary intention appears by the will, a will speaks and takes effect as if it had been made immediately before the death of the testator with respect to the property.

RS 1960-408-21.

Lapsed and void devises and bequests

21. Except when a contrary intention appears by the will, property or an interest in it that is comprised or intended to be comprised in a devise or bequest that fails or becomes void by reason of the death of the devisee or donee in the lifetime of the testator, or by reason of the devise or bequest being contrary to law or otherwise incapable of taking effect, is included in the residuary devise or bequest, if any, contained in the will.

RS 1960-408-22.

Inclusion of leaseholds in general devise

22. Except when a contrary intention appears by the will, where a testator devises

his land;

his land in a place mentioned in the will, or in the occupation of a person mention in the will;

land described in a general manner; or

land described in a manner that would include a leasehold estate if the testator had no freehold estate which could be described in the manner used.

the devise includes the leasehold estates of the testator or any of them to which the description extends, as well as freehold estates.

RS1960-408-23.

Exercise of general power of appointment by general gift

23. (1) Except when a contrary intention appears by the will, a general devise of

the real property of the testator; the real property of the testator in a place mentioned in the will or in the occupation of a person mentioned in the will; or

real property described in a general manner

includes any real property or any real property to which the description extends, that he has power to appoint in any manner he thinks proper and operates as an execution of the power.

(2) Except when a contrary intention appears by the will, a bequest of

the personal property of the testator; or personal property described in a general manner

includes any real property or any real property to which the description extends, that he has power to appoint in any manner he thinks proper and operates as an execution of the power.

RS 1960-408-24.

Devise without words of limitation

24. Except when a contrary intention appears by the will, where real property is devised to a person without words of limitation, the devise passes the fee simple or the whole of any other estate that the testator had power to dispose of by will in the real property.

RS1960-408-25.

Gifts to heirs

25. Except when a contrary intention appears by the will, where property is devised or bequeathed to the heir or next of kin of the testator or of another person, the devise or bequest takes effect as if it had been made to the persons among whom and in the shares in which the estate of he testator or other person would have been divisible if he had died intestate.

RS1960-408-26.

Meaning of "die without issue"

- 26. (1) Subject to subsection (2), in a devise or bequest of property
 - (a) the words

"die without issue";

"die without leaving issue"; or

"have no issue"; or

(b) other words importing either a want or failure of issue of a person in his lifetime or at the time of his death or an indefinite failure of his issue

shall be deemed to refer to a want or failure of issue in the lifetime or at the time of death of that person and not to an indefinite failure of his issue unless a contrary intention appears by the will.

(2) This section does extend to cases where the words defined in subsection (1) import

if no issue described in a preceding gift be born; or if there be no issue who live to attain the age or otherwise answer the description required for obtaining a vested estate by a preceding gift to that issue.

RS1960-408-27.

Gifts to issue predeceasing testator

29. (1) Except when a contrary intention appears by the will, where a person dies in the lifetime of a testator either before or after the testator makes the will and that person

> is a child or other issue or a brother or sister of the testator to whom, either as an individual or as a member of a class, is devised or bequeathed an estate or interest in property not determinable at or before his death; and

> leaves issue any of whom is living at the time of the death of the testator,

the devise or bequest does not lapse, but takes effect as if it had been made directly to the person among whom and in the shares in which the estate of that person would have been divisible if he had died intestate without leaving a spouse and without debts immediately after the death of the testator.

(2) Except when a contrary intention appears by the will, where a person dies in the lifetime of a testator either before or after the testator makes the will and that person

is a child or other issue or a brother or sister of the testator to whom, either as an individual or as a member of a class, is devised or bequeathed an estate or interest in property not determinable at or before his death; and

leaves a spouse but does not leave issue any of whom is living at the time of the death of the testator,

The devise or bequest does not lapse, but takes effect as if it had been made directly to the persons among whom and in the shares in which the estate of that person would have been divisible if he had died intestate and without debts immediately after the death of the testator.

RS1960-408-30; 1967-49-16; 1975-73-27.

Illegitimate children

30. In the construction of a will, except when a contrary intention appears by the will, an illegitimate child shall be treated as if he were the legitimate child of his mother.

Primary liability of mortgaged land

- 31. (1) Where a person dies possessed of, or entitled to, or under a general power of appointment by his will disposes of, an interest in freehold or leasehold property which, at the time of his death, is subject to a mortgage, and the deceased has not, by will, deed or other document, signified a contrary or other intention, the interest is, as between the different persons claiming through the deceased, primarily liable for the payment or satisfaction of the mortgage debt; and every part of the interest, according to its value, bears a proportionate part of the mortgage debt on the whole interest.
 - (2) A testator does not signify a contrary or other intention within subsection (1) by

a general direction for the payment of debts or of all the debts of the testator out of his personal estate or his residuary real or personal estate, or his residuary real estate; or

a charge of debts on that estate,

unless he further signifies that intention by words expressly or by necessary implication referring to all or some part of the mortgage debt.

- (3) Nothing in this section affects a right or a person entitled to the mortgage debt to obtain payment of satisfaction either out of the other assets of the deceased or otherwise.
- (4) In this section "mortgage" includes an equitable mortgage, and any charge, whether equitable, statutory or of other nature, including a lien or claim on freehold or leasehold property for unpaid purchase money, and "mortgage debt" has a meaning similarly extended.

RS 1960-408-32.

Executor as trustee of residue

- 32. (1) Except where a contrary intention appears by the will, where a person dies after this Act takes effect, having a will appointed a person executor, the executor is a trustee of any residue not expressly disposed of for the persons among whom and in the shares in which the estate of the testator would have been divisible if he had died intestate.
 - (2) Nothing in this section affects or prejudices a right to which the executor, if this part had not been passed, would have been entitled in cases where there is not a person who would be so entitled.

RS1960-408-33.

Appendix B

Proposals 5 and 6 from Working Paper No. 36, on Interpretation of Wills

5. a) The *Trustee Act* be amended to provide that subject to a contrary intention, a class in whose favour a gift by will or *inter vivos* is made, should close naturally but if the effect of this provision would be to make the gift void as contrary to the rule against perpetuities, the

class instead of closing naturally, will close pursuant to the provisions of sections 7 and 8 of the *Perpetuities Act*.

- b) The *Trustee Act* be amended to provide that evidence may be adduced to show that a class defined by reference to the child bearing capacity of a person has closed because the person is unable to have any more children, unless the settlor of the class gift provides when the class is to close.
- c) The *Trustee Act* be amended to provide that:
 - (i) Subject to a contrary intention, and subject to all prior interests in the subject matter of a class gift, the executor or trustee of a class gift be empowered to apply portions from the income or the corpus of the gift for maintenance, advancement or otherwise for the benefit of a member or potential member of a class whether his interest is vested, notwithstanding that it is subject to divestment, or contingent.
 - (ii) The portion or aggregate of all portions advanced to a member or potential member of the class should not exceed the share he will be entitled to eventually, and where such share cannot be adequately estimated, the executor or trustee may require the member or potential member to provide sufficient security to ensure repayment of any sum in excess of the member's actual share when finally determined upon the closing of the class, or impose such further terms and conditions as may, under the circumstances, be appropriate.
 - (iii) Upon the closing of the class, the trustee shall distribute to each member his share of the class gift, and all portions advanced to any member shall be brought into account as part of that member's share.
 - (iv) A trustee who bona fide appropriates a sum from income or capital, or both, and applies it for the maintenance, advancement or otherwise for the benefit of a member or potential member of a class should be discharged from his fiduciary liabilities in respect of a sum so advanced.
 - (v) No action in equity or law should be maintained for the recovery of funds from a member or potential member who has received such a *bona fide* payment, except as it arises from the terms and conditions imposed by the trustee when the payment is made.
- 6. The *Wills Act* be amended to provide that subject to a contrary intention, a gift to a class designated as "issue" of a person or by another term denoting descendant kin, thus encompassing more than one degree or generation, shall be distributed in equal shares among the nearest issue of that person and among remoter issue of that person *per stirpes* throughout.